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We took the next step in electrification at the beginning of 
the year with the new EQA, the first all-electric Mercedes-EQ 
model in the compact segment. We will continue in the spring 
with the EQS: Our electric flagship in the S-Class segment  
has a range of around 700 kilometers (WLTP) on a single bat-
tery charge. The EQS will also change the way we think about 
cars. It is the first all-electric Mercedes-Benz that we have 
developed as an electric car right from the start. This opens up 
new possibilities, in vehicle design, for example. Next year, 
our portfolio will include eight all-electric Mercedes-EQ mod-
els. Production at our own car plants will then be completely 
CO2-neutral. 

With the vans, we have developed a new platform for the next 
generation of the eSprinter. This gives us maximum flexibility, 
to implement numerous body variants, for example. Because 
whether combustion engine or electric drive, the individual 
needs of our customers are at the heart of everything we do.

We are also systematically expanding our range of CO2-neutral 
options for trucks. We are pursuing a twin-track strategy here. 
Series production of the battery-electric eActros starts this 
year. In parallel, we are developing fuel-cell trucks for long dis-
tances and heavier loads. We have provided a glimpse of the 
future with our Gen H2 concept truck. This is a heavy-duty 
truck with a range of up to 1,000 kilometers, equivalent to that 
of a diesel truck. We are leveraging synergies and system
atically implementing our electrification strategy also at the 
Freightliner and FUSO brands. 

All of these examples show that market environment and 
customer requirements as well as approaches to technologies 
and partnerships differ between cars and trucks. The ongoing 
transformation is increasingly intensifying these differences. 
To shape change successfully, we need speed, agility and full 
focus on innovation more than ever. This is why we intend to 
propose to you, at an Extraordinary Shareholders’ Meeting in 
the fall, that a significant majority interest in Daimler Truck be 
transferred to the Daimler shareholders by way of a spin-off. In 
this case, it is planned that the transaction and the stock-
exchange listing of Daimler Truck will be completed by the end 
of 2021. 

 

In this way, we want to give our trucks and buses division full 
entrepreneurial freedom – and thus the opportunity to lever-
age economies of scale even more effectively, to further 
increase profitability, and to make even faster progress on the 
road to zero-emission goods transport. At the same time, we 
want to further sharpen the profile of Mercedes-Benz: as one 
of the leading suppliers of luxury cars and premium vans, with 
a strong brand, and with a clear strategic course towards tech-
nology leadership, especially for electric mobility and vehicle 
software. With independence comes maximum customer 
focus and even greater entrepreneurial responsibility. These 
are the best possible ingredients for creating added value for 
you, the shareholders, and for unleashing the full potential of 
the companies. 

For the two companies, the future of mobility will be decarbon-
ization and digitization. We set the strategic course for this long 
ago. The results can be experienced on the road today and will 
become even more visible this year. At the same time, we are 
confident that, given stable conditions, we will be able to con-
tinue the positive trend from last year in our business develop-
ment. Because we are convinced that our future will be sus-
tainably fascinating, sustainably climate-neutral, and, last but 
not least, sustainably profitable. We are shaping this change 
with courage, passion and responsibility. I look forward to you 
continuing to accompany us on this path. 

Sincerely yours, 

Ola Källenius
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The Board of Management 

Ola Källenius 
Chairman of the Board of Management of Daimler AG/ 
Mercedes-Benz Cars & Vans 
Appointed until May 2024 

Martin Daum 
Daimler Trucks & Buses 
Appointed until February 2022

Renata Jungo Brüngger 
Integrity and Legal Affairs  
Appointed until December 2023

Wilfried Porth 
Human Resources and Director of Labor Relations 
Appointed until April 2022

Markus Schäfer 
Group Research and Mercedes-Benz Cars Chief Operating 
Officer (COO) 
Appointed until May 2024

Britta Seeger 
Mercedes-Benz Cars Marketing and Sales 
Appointed until December 2024

Hubertus Troska 
Greater China 
Appointed until December 2025 

Harald Wilhelm 
Finance & Controlling/Daimler Mobility 
Appointed until March 2022 

w Further information on the individual members of the Board of Management of Daimler AG

https://www.daimler.com/company/corporate-governance/board-of-management/


Report of the Supervisory Board

nicht löschen
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“The Daimler Group is 
extremely well positioned  
for the future.”

Dr. Manfred Bischoff, 
Chairman of the Supervisory Board 
of Daimler AG
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Supervisory and advisory activities of the Supervisory 
Board
The Supervisory Board of Daimler AG fully performed its tasks 
as defined by the law, the Company’s Articles of Incorporation 
and its own rules of procedure once again in the year 2020. 

The Supervisory Board continually advised and supervised  
the Board of Management in the management of the Company 
and provided support with strategically important issues 
relating to the Group’s further development. 

The Supervisory Board examined whether the annual company 
and consolidated financial statements, the combined manage-
ment report including the non-financial declaration (2020), and 
the other financial reporting, as well as the non-financial report 
(2019) for Daimler AG and the Daimler Group, were in confor-
mance with the applicable requirements. 

In addition, it approved numerous business matters for which 
its consent was required following careful reviews and consul-
tations. As well as the finance and investment planning, this 
also included cooperation plans, major equity measures at 
companies of the Group, and the conclusion of contracts with 
particular importance for the Group. The Board of Management 
informed the Supervisory Board about a large number of 
further measures and business matters, and discussed them 
with it intensively and in detail, such as the impact on the 
Group of the covid-19 pandemic and the countermeasures taken. 

The Board of Management regularly informed the Supervisory 
Board about all significant economic developments of the 
Group and the divisions. It continually provided information to 
it on all fundamental questions of corporate planning, including 
finance, investment, sales and personnel planning, current 
developments at the companies of the Group, the development 
of revenue, the situation of the Company and the divisions,  
and the economic and political environment, as well as on the 
current status and assessment of significant legal proceed-
ings. Furthermore, the Board of Management reported to the 
Supervisory Board continually on profitability and the Group’s 

liquidity situation, the development of sales and procurement 
markets, the overall economic situation, and developments in 
the capital markets and the area of financial services. Addi-
tional topics included the further development of the product 
portfolio, securing the Group’s long-term competitiveness, and 
the ongoing implementation of measures for safeguarding sus-
tainable and future-oriented mobility. The Supervisory Board 
also dealt in detail with political developments and conflicts in 
the main sales markets, the shareholder structure, the devel-
opment of the share price and the related background, and the 
expected impact of strategic projects on the share price.

Working culture and areas of Supervisory Board activity
In the year 2020, the Supervisory Board convened for nine 
meetings, some of which took place by telephone or as video 
conferences due to the pandemic. Participation in the meet-
ings by the members of the Supervisory Board was at a very 
high level once again, as shown in the detailed overview at the 
end of this report. The work of the Supervisory Board featured 
open and intensive exchanges of information and opinions. 
The members of the Supervisory Board regularly prepared for 
upcoming resolutions with the aid of documentation provided 
in advance by the Board of Management. Furthermore, the 
members representing the employees and the members repre-
senting the shareholders regularly prepared the Supervisory 
Board meetings in separate discussions, which were also 
attended by members of the Board of Management. The Super-
visory Board was also intensively supported by its committees. 
In the meetings of the Supervisory Board, its members dis-
cussed in detail with the Board of Management the measures 
and business matters to be decided upon. Executive sessions 
were regularly arranged for the meetings so that topics could 
be discussed also in the absence of the Board of Management.

Outside the regular meetings, the Supervisory Board was 
informed about special matters. In addition, the members of  
the Supervisory Board and of the Board of Management came 
together for bilateral exchanges of opinions. The Board of 
Management informed the Supervisory Board also with written 
reports about the most important indicators of business 

Report of the Supervisory Board
Dear Shareholders,  
 
The year 2020 was the most challenging for our Company during my period of office as Chairman 
of the Supervisory Board. In addition to the challenges posed by the global covid-19 pandemic, the 
transformation towards sustainable emission-free mobility with the main aspects of electrification 
and digitization had to be pushed forward at full speed. In addition, expectations for growth rates 
in the automotive sector weakened. At the same time, it was necessary to keep an eye on risks 
from political conflicts concerning the free movement of goods. Daimler had to revise and, in some 
cases, redefine the main points of its strategy. In close consultation with the Supervisory Board, 
the Board of Management took timely measures to safeguard liquidity, reduce costs and restructure 
the Group, without losing its focus on the technological fields of the future. We therefore have 
many good reasons to be confident that our Company will emerge strengthened for the future years 
as a result of the measures initiated.  
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development and existing risks, in particular in the spring of 
2020 during the first peak phase of the covid-19 pandemic. 
The Supervisory Board received weekly reports on its impact 
as well as on the status of mitigating measures taken. 

The members of the Supervisory Board independently attend 
such courses of training and further training regarded as nec-
essary for the performance of their tasks, relating for example 
to changes in the legal framework and new, future-oriented 
technologies, in which they are supported by the Company. 
During the reporting period, the Company held information 
events on the expansion of the technical compliance manage-
ment system and, together with the external auditors, on 
risk-oriented auditing. Furthermore, in a special onboarding 
program, new members of the Supervisory Board have the 
opportunity to meet the members of the Board of Management 
and senior executives with specialist responsibility for a bilat-
eral exchange of opinions and information on fundamental and 
current topics of the various Board of Management areas, 
allowing them to gain an overview of the topics relevant to the 
Daimler Group and of its governance structure. 

In its meeting on February 10, 2020, which was attended by 
the external auditors, the Supervisory Board discussed, took 
note of and approved the preliminary key figures of the annual 
company and consolidated financial statements for 2019 and 
the dividend proposal to be made at the 2020 Annual Share-
holders’ Meeting. The Supervisory Board determined that no 
objections were to be raised to their publication. The prelimi-
nary key figures for the year 2019 and the proposal on the 
appropriation of profit were announced at the Annual Press 
Conference on February 11, 2020.

In the Supervisory Board meeting held on February 19, 2020, 
the Supervisory Board decided to appoint Hubertus Troska  
as a member of the Board of Management of Daimler AG for a 
period of a further five years as of January 1, 2021, with 
responsibility for Greater China.

Subsequently, it dealt with the annual company financial state-
ments, the annual consolidated financial statements and the 
combined management report for Daimler AG and the Daimler 
Group for the year 2019, each of which had been issued with 
an unqualified audit opinion by the external auditors, as well as 
with the reports of the Audit Committee and the Supervisory 
Board, the declaration on corporate governance combined with 
the corporate governance report, the remuneration report, the 
nonfinancial report, which was issued with the independent 
auditor’s limited assurance in accordance with ISAE 3000, and 
the proposal on the appropriation of profit. In preparation,  
the members of the Supervisory Board had been provided with 
comprehensive documentation.

The Audit Committee and the Supervisory Board dealt with 
those documents in detail and discussed them intensively in 
the presence of the independent auditors. The independent 
auditors reported on the results of their audit and on the key 
audit matters and the respective audit procedure, including the 
conclusions drawn, as well as on the voluntary review of the 
non-financial report within the framework of a limited assur-
ance engagement, and were available to answer questions and 
to provide further information. Following the final results of the 
review by the Audit Committee and its own review, the Super-
visory Board declared its agreement with the results of the 
audit carried out by the external auditors. It determined that 

no objections were to be raised, approved the financial state-
ments and the combined management report as presented by 
the Board of Management, and thus adopted the financial 
statements of Daimler AG for the year 2019. On this basis, the 
Supervisory Board consented to the proposal made by the 
Board of Management on the appropriation of distributable 
profit. In addition, the Supervisory Board approved the non-
financial report, the report of the Supervisory Board, the 
corporate government statement combined with the corporate 
governance report, and the remuneration report.

In its meeting on February 19, 2020, the Supervisory Board 
also decided on its proposed resolutions for the agenda of the 
2020 Annual Shareholders’ Meeting, which at that time was 
still planned to be held on April 1, 2020, including the propos-
als for election as described in this report. The Supervisory 
Board also dealt with matters pertaining to the remuneration 
of the members of the Board of Management and, in connec-
tion with the item of the agenda on corporate governance, 
approved the memberships of other boards and further exter-
nal secondary activities of the members of the Board of Man-
agement that were presented in the meeting. In addition, the 
Supervisory Board decided to have a voluntary review of the 
contents of the 2020 non-financial report conducted by KPMG 
AG Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft, Berlin, in the form of a 
limited assurance. Another matter dealt with in the meeting 
was the court proceedings in connection with diesel exhaust 
emissions. Following careful and intensive discussion of the 
relevant aspects and consideration of the relevant reasons, 
while taking into account the best interests of the Company 
and a corresponding positive recommendation on a resolution 
by the Supervisory Board’s Committee for Legal Affairs, the 
Supervisory Board approved the Board of Management’s deci-
sion on the settlement of a securities class action relating to 
diesel exhaust emissions in the United States. In preparation 
for its decision, the Supervisory Board had obtained an expert 
opinion from an independent law firm. Both the Supervisory 
Board and the Executive Board are of the opinion that the set-
tlement was in the interests of the Company. Once again, the 
question of possible claims for compensation against former or 
present members of the Board of Management in connection 
with antitrust issues, in particular with regard to the European 
Commission’s concluded antitrust proceedings against truck 
manufacturers, and the ongoing investigations relating to the 
antitrust proceedings of the European Commission concerning 
possible restrictions of competition with exhaust-gas cleaning 
technologies was dealt with. On the basis of the reviews car-
ried out so far and repeatedly updated by an independent law 
firm, a further review by an independent legal academic, as 
well as detailed discussions in the Supervisory Board taking 
into account the welfare of the Company, as well as in the 
context of further deliberations on these issues in the meetings 
on July 23 and December 3, 2020 (in accordance with corre-
sponding recommendations of the Supervisory Board Commit-
tee for Legal Affairs), the Supervisory Board maintained its 
previous resolution, based on the information available, that no 
such claims were to be made at the present time. In this context, 
it dealt with possible risks arising from the statute of limitations 
and arranged for appropriate precautions to be taken. Finally, 
the Supervisory Board received reports on the external certifi-
cation of selected partial areas of the compliance management 
system.
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In the Supervisory Board meeting held on April 29, 2020, the 
Board of Management first reported on the measures taken in 
connection with the covid-19 pandemic. The Supervisory Board 
then approved the release of funds for a number of vehicle 
projects. The agenda also included the MOVE transformation 
program and the measures initiated to reduce product-related 
complexity at Mercedes-Benz Cars. In addition, the Super
visory Board dealt with the strategic alignment of the Daimler 
Mobility division, focusing in particular on mobility services. 
The Supervisory Board also received reports on current legal 
issues. This related in particular to requests for information, 
inquiries, investigations, administrative orders and proceed-
ings in connection with diesel exhaust emissions. Finally, the 
meeting dealt with the resolutions required for holding a 
virtual Annual Shareholders’ Meeting.

During the virtual Annual Shareholders’ Meeting on July 8, 
2020, the candidate proposed by the Supervisory Board, Timo-
theus Höttges, was elected as a member of the Supervisory 
Board representing the shareholders. In the Supervisory Board 
meeting held the next day, July 9, 2020, the representatives of 
the shareholders elected Dr. Bernd Pischetsrieder as a mem-
ber of the Nomination Committee as successor to Dr. Paul 
Achleitner, who had stepped down from the Supervisory Board. 

The Supervisory Board convened for another meeting in late 
July 2020. One focus of this meeting was the ongoing electrifi-
cation of the product portfolio. In particular, the Supervisory 
Board confirmed the Mercedes modular architecture, which 
implements the »electric-first policy«. Furthermore, the Super-
visory Board discussed in detail with the Board of Management 
the course of business and the results for the first half of the 
year, which exceeded market expectations. The Board of Man-
agement also provided updates on urban mobility solutions 
and the strategy of Daimler Trucks & Buses, which was further 
enhanced in view of the transformation of the industry and 
with regard to the overarching area of action of creating added 
value for the customers.

Within the context of an integrity update, the Supervisory 
Board received a report on the activities for the further devel-
opment of the integrity culture in the various areas of the 
Group. Finally, the Supervisory Board dealt once again with  
the antitrust-related proceedings and received a detailed report 
on the requests for information, inquiries, investigations, 
administrative orders and proceedings relating to diesel exhaust 
emissions. 

In an extraordinary meeting held on August 13, 2020, following 
careful and intensive discussion of the relevant aspects and 
consideration of the relevant reasons, while taking into account 
the best interests of the Company and a corresponding posi-
tive recommendation on a resolution by the Supervisory Board’s 
Committee for Legal Affairs, the Supervisory Board approved 
the Board of Management’s decision on the settlement of gov-
ernmental and civil-law proceedings in the United States relat-
ing to diesel exhaust emissions. In preparation for its decision, 
the Supervisory Board was provided with several expert opin-
ions from several independent law firms. Both the Supervisory 
Board and the Board of Management are of the opinion that 
the settlements were in the interests of the Company.

Strategy meeting of the Supervisory Board 
At the beginning of the two-day strategy workshop in Sindel
fingen in late September, the Supervisory Board granted its 
consent to cooperation with the Zhejiang Geely Holding Group 
on the development of a highly efficient next-generation drive 
system for hybrid applications, as well as to a capital measure 
to be taken at a company of the Group. 

The focus of the meeting was on dealing with the strategies of 
the individual divisions. At Mercedes-Benz AG, the focus was 
on setting the strategic course for profitable growth in the lux-
ury segment and on efforts to become a leader for electric 
drive systems and vehicle software. At Daimler Truck AG, the 
strategic focus was on electric mobility, vehicle connectivity 
and autonomous driving. At Daimler Mobility AG, the focus was 
on financing, leasing, and insurance offerings in close interac-
tion with the mobility offerings. The Supervisory Board dis-
cussed in detail the goals and the strategic areas for action of 
the individual divisions. With the involvement of the executives 
responsible for the topics presented, the members of the 
Supervisory Board and the Board of Management discussed in 
a constructive and open dialog how Daimler will prepare for 
new challenges and which further developments lie ahead. The 
discussion included the geopolitical situation with regard to 
tensions between China and the United States, possible politi-
cal developments and their effects on Daimler. The Super
visory Board also discussed the key financial figures and the 
targets for the Group and the divisions. Another item on the 
agenda was the Company’s involvement in Formula 1 racing. 
The Supervisory Board also received information on current 
legal issues, including the procedural steps taken with regard 
to the settlement of regulatory and civil proceedings in the 
United States in connection with diesel exhaust emissions. 

At an extraordinary meeting on November 4, 2020, the Super-
visory Board dealt with M&A, cooperation and battery and 
transmission projects. It approved the related funding require-
ments and approved the sale of the car plant in Hambach, 
France, by transferring all shares in smart France S.A.S. to 
INEOS Automotive. 

Meeting on Daimler’s business planning 
In the meeting held on December 3, 2020, the Supervisory 
Board first decided on the proposals for election to be made at 
the 2021 Annual Shareholders’ Meeting described in this 
report. The Supervisory Board agreed to propose at the meet-
ing of the newly constituted Supervisory Board after the 2021 
Annual Shareholders’ Meeting that Dr. Bernd Pischetsrieder be 
elected as Chairman of the Supervisory Board. In the further 
course of the meeting, the Supervisory Board approved a num-
ber of measures requiring its consent and dealt with the report 
of the Board of Management on the development of current 
and completed acquisitions and cooperations. Furthermore, 
the Supervisory Board discussed and approved Daimler’s busi-
ness planning on the basis of comprehensive documentation 
and, in this context, discussed existing opportunities and risks. 
It also approved the establishment of a transformation fund 
with a volume of up to €1 billion. On the basis of the Board of 
Management’s decision to integrate the non-financial report 
into the management report, the Supervisory Board also 
decided, on the recommendation of the Audit Committee, to 
extend the external audit of the consolidated financial 
statements and combined management report accordingly. 
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The Supervisory Board also received information on current 
legal issues, including requests for information, inquiries, 
investigations, official orders and proceedings in connection 
with diesel exhaust emissions. At the meeting, the Supervisory 
Board received reports from its legal advisers on the progress 
of the investigation into responsibilities in connection with 
diesel emissions. The question of possible claims for damages 
against former or current Board of Management members in 
connection with the antitrust issues was also dealt with once 
again. The Supervisory Board decided to discuss the further 
course of action in the antitrust matters again, taking further 
developments into account. In this context, the Supervisory 
Board dealt with any risks relating to the statute of limitations 
and initiated appropriate precautions. 

Other items on the agenda included matters of corporate gov-
ernance, in particular the declaration of compliance with the 
German Corporate Governance Code, the setting of a target 
for the proportion of women in the Board of Management, and 
the adjustment of the requirements profiles for the Board of 
Management and the Supervisory Board. The Supervisory 
Board also looked ahead to key topics for the 2021 financial 
year. Finally, based on preparations by the Presidential Com-
mittee, it dealt with the further development of the system of 
Board of Management remuneration. Details of the system  
of Board of Management remuneration and the adjustments 
to the annual bonus are explained in the E Remuneration 
Report. 

Fundamental change in the corporate structure
At an extraordinary meeting on February 3, 2021, the Supervi-
sory Board granted its approval, after detailed prior discussion, 
to evaluate a spin-off of the Truck & Bus business and to begin 
preparations for a separate stock-exchange listing of Daimler 
Truck. As a result of the spin-off, which requires the approval 
of the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting, a substantial majority 
shareholding in Daimler Truck is to be transferred to Daimler 
shareholders.

Corporate governance and declaration of compliance
During the year 2020, the Supervisory Board was continually 
occupied with standards of good corporate governance.

In its meeting in December 2020, the Supervisory Board 
approved the 2020 declaration of compliance with the German 
Corporate Governance Code pursuant to Section 161 of the 
German Stock Corporation Act (AktG). With the exceptions 
explained there, all recommendations of the Code have been 
and continue to be complied with.

In accordance with good corporate governance, the members 
of the Supervisory Board of Daimler AG are obliged to disclose 
conflicts of interest – especially those that might arise due to 
an advisory or board function for a customer, supplier or credi-
tor of Daimler, or for other third parties – to the entire Super
visory Board.

In order to avoid the appearance of potential conflicts of inter-
est arising from specific situations, some members of the 
Supervisory Board did not participate in discussions of certain 
items of the agendas in the year 2020. This was the case with 
Sari Baldauf in connection with the patent disputes between 
Daimler and Nokia. Furthermore, as a highly precautionary 
measure to avoid potential conflicts of interest, Dr. Bernd 
Pischetsrieder and Dr. Jürgen Hambrecht refrained from 
participating in several meetings when legal proceedings in 
connection with diesel exhaust emissions were being dealt with. 
The Supervisory Board conducted an externally moderated 
self-assessment in 2020. It covered all key aspects of the work 
of the Supervisory Board including its committees by means of 
an online questionnaire and supplementary interviews. The 
results of the review, which the Supervisory Board dealt with in 
depth at its meeting on February 17, 2021, confirm the pro
fessional, very good cooperation within the Supervisory Board 
and with the Board of Management characterized by a high 
degree of trust. No fundamental need for change was shown.

Independently of the Supervisory Board’s self-assessment,  
the Audit Committee again carried out a self-assessment of its 
activities in 2020 on the basis of a comprehensive Group-
specific questionnaire. The results of this self-assessment, 
which were again very positive, were presented and discussed 
in the meeting of the Audit Committee on February 17, 2021. 
No need for change was identified. 

Law for the equal participation of women and men in 
management positions
For supervisory boards of listed companies subject to parity 
codetermination, like that of Daimler AG, the German Stock 
Corporation Act prescribes a binding gender ratio of at least 
30% women. The ratio is to apply to the entire supervisory 
board. If the side of the supervisory board representing the 
shareholders or the side representing the employees objects 
to the chairman of the supervisory board before the election 
about the application of the ratio to the entire supervisory 
board, the minimum ratio is to apply separately to the share-
holders’ side and to the employees’ side for that election.

As of December 31, 2020, the shareholders’ side of the Super-
visory Board of Daimler AG is composed of 30% women (the 
members Sari Baldauf, Petraea Heynike and Marie Wieck) and 
70% men. On the employees’ side, the proportions as of that 
date are 30% women (the members Elke Tönjes-Werner, Sibylle 
Wankel and Dr. Sabine Zimmer) and 70% men. The Supervisory 
Board as a whole therefore also fulfills the statutory quota.

In its meeting on December 3, 2020, the Supervisory Board 
discussed the specific proposals for the candidates to be 
elected at the 2021 Annual Shareholders’ Meeting and decided, 
upon the recommendation of the Nomination Committee, to 
propose at the 2021 Annual Shareholders’ Meeting that Eliza-
beth Centoni, Ben Van Beurden and Dr. Martin Brudermüller 
be elected to the Supervisory Board for the first time. If the 
proposed candidates are elected, the statutory quota for 
women will remain fulfilled both on the shareholder side and 
for the Supervisory Board as a whole, provided there are  
no other changes. 
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For the composition of the Board of Management, the Super
visory Board set the target in December 2016 of at least 12.5% 
women, to be achieved by December 31, 2020. As of Decem-
ber 31, 2020, two women are members of the Board of 
Management: Renata Jungo Brüngger and Britta Seeger; the 
proportion of women is therefore 25% as of that date. The 
target was thus exceeded. 

In its meeting on December 3, 2020, the Supervisory Board set 
a new target of a proportion of at least 25% women as members 
of the Board of Management, to be achieved by December 31, 
2025.

Corporate governance at Daimler is described in detail  
in the E Declaration on Corporate Governance and in the 
E Remuneration Report.

The work of the committees 
The Presidential Committee convened in the past financial 
year for three meetings. It dealt in particular with personnel 
matters and succession planning for the composition of the 
Board of Management. In addition, the Presidential Committee 
dealt with the acceptance by members of the Board of Man-
agement of board positions at other companies and institutions, 
corporate governance topics, D&O insurance and matters of 
remuneration. Details of the remuneration of the Board of 
Management are presented in the E Remuneration Report. 

The Audit Committee met six times in 2020. Details of those 
meetings are provided in the E Report of the Audit Commit-
tee.

The Committee for Legal Affairs held five meetings in 2020. 
At these meetings, it received detailed information on legal 
matters concerning emissions and antitrust law, as well as the 
related further development of the compliance system, and 
discussed those matters in the presence of the Supervisory 
Board’s legal advisors. The Committee received reports from 
the legal advisors commissioned by the Supervisory Board on 
the progress of the examination of responsibilities in connec-
tion with diesel exhaust emissions. The Committee regularly 
reported to the Supervisory Board on its work and, after dis-
cussing and considering the relevant aspects and taking into 
account the best interests of the Company, made recommen-
dations for resolutions by the Supervisory Board. In particular, 
this concerned the resolution of the Supervisory Board of Feb-
ruary 19, 2020, to approve the decision of the Board of Man-
agement on the settlement of a securities class-action lawsuit 
in the United States in connection with diesel exhaust emis-
sions, and the Supervisory Board’s resolution of August 13, 
2020, to approve the decision of the Board of Management on 
the settlement of regulatory and civil proceedings in the United 
States in connection with diesel emissions. Within the frame-
work of the agreement in principle reached with various US 
authorities during the reporting period to end regulatory 
proceedings for alleged violations of US and Californian envi-
ronmental laws in connection with diesel exhaust emissions, 
the Committee was given further tasks and decision-making 
authority with regard to fulfilling the obligations accepted  
in the agreement in principle. In several meetings, these 

obligations and working with the Post Settlement Audit Team 
(PSAT) were explained to the Committee. The PSAT was set up 
in the reporting year on the basis of the settlement with the  
US authorities and audits the company’s compliance with the 
settlement and environmental regulations within a certain scope. 

In addition, the Committee for Legal Affairs dealt intensively 
with the antitrust matters that were a subject of the Supervi-
sory Board meetings on February 19, July 23, and December 3, 
2020, and - in each case after detailed discussion, also with 
the legal advisors - made corresponding recommendations for 
resolutions, each of which were the subject of further discus-
sions in the Supervisory Board. 

The Nomination Committee convened for four meetings in 
2020. The Committee dealt in particular with the recommenda-
tion for the Supervisory Board’s proposals to be made at the 
Annual Shareholders’ Meeting in 2021 on the candidates for 
election to the Supervisory Board. Among other things, and 
taking into consideration all circumstances of each individual 
case, the proposal is oriented towards the Daimler Group’s 
interests and aims to fulfill the overall qualification profile for 
the entire Supervisory Board, including expertise profile  
and diversity concept. In addition, the Committee dealt with 
the succession, due in 2021, to the position of Chairman  
of the Supervisory Board. 

There was no occasion to convene the Mediation Committee 
during the reporting period. 

Changes in the Supervisory Board and the Board of  
Management 
In the Supervisory Board meeting on February 19, 2020, 
Hubertus Troska was appointed to the Board of Management 
of Daimler AG, responsible for Greater China, for a further 
period of five years with effect as of January 1, 2021. 

Following the proposal of the Supervisory Board, the Annual 
Shareholders’ Meeting on July 8, 2020 elected Timotheus 
Höttges as a member of the Supervisory Board representing 
the shareholders for the period until the end of the Annual 
Shareholders’ Meeting that decides on ratification of board 
members’ actions for financial year 2024.

In the Supervisory Board meeting on December 3, 2020, on 
the basis of a recommendation by the Nomination Committee, 
the members representing the shareholders resolved to pro-
pose to the 2021 Annual Shareholders’ Meeting that Elizabeth 
Centoni, Ben Van Beurden and Dr. Martin Brudermüller be 
elected to the Supervisory Board. At its meeting on December 
3, 2020, the Supervisory Board of Daimler AG also agreed to 
propose to the newly constituted Supervisory Board at its 
meeting following the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting on March 
31, 2021 that Dr. Bernd Pischetsrieder be elected as Chairman 
of the Supervisory Board. 

Audit of the company and consolidated financial  
statements
The financial statements of Daimler AG and the combined 
management report for the Company and the Group for 2020 
were duly audited by KPMG AG, Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesell-
schaft, Berlin, and were given an unqualified audit opinion. The 
same applies to the consolidated financial statements for  
2020 prepared according to IFRS.
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In the meeting held on February 17, 2021, the Supervisory 
Board dealt with the annual company financial statements, the 
annual consolidated financial statements and the combined 
management report including the non-financial declaration for 
Daimler AG and the Daimler Group, each of which had been 
issued with an unqualified audit opinion by the independent 
auditors, as well as the declaration on corporate governance, 
the remuneration report and the proposal on the appropriation 
of profit. In preparation, the members of the Supervisory 
Board had been provided with comprehensive documentation 
including the Annual Report with the consolidated financial 
statements according to IFRS, the combined management 
report including the non-financial declaration for Daimler AG 
and the Daimler Group, as well as the declaration on corporate 
governance, the remuneration report, the annual company 
financial statements of Daimler AG, the proposal of the Board 
of Management on the appropriation of profit, the audit reports 
of KPMG AG Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft on the annual 
company financial statements of Daimler AG and the consoli-
dated financial statements, each including the combined man-
agement report, and the internal control system, as well as 
drafts of the reports of the Supervisory Board and of the Audit 
Committee.

The Audit Committee and the Supervisory Board dealt with 
those documents in detail and discussed them intensively in 
the presence of the independent auditors, who reported on the 
results of their audit and in particular on the key audit matters 
and the respective audit procedure including the conclusions 
drawn, and who were available to answer supplementary ques-
tions and to provide additional information. Following the final 
results of the review by the Audit Committee and its own 
review, the Supervisory Board declared its agreement with 
the results of the audit by the external auditors. It determined 
that no objections were to be raised and approved the financial 
statements and the combined management report as pre-
sented by the Board of Management, including the non-financial 
declaration. The company financial statements of Daimler AG 
for the year 2020 were thereby adopted. On this basis, the 
Supervisory Board consented to the proposal made by the Board 
of Management on the appropriation of distributable profit. 
Furthermore, the Supervisory Board approved the report of the 
Supervisory Board, the declaration on corporate governance 
and the remuneration report, as well as its proposed resolutions 
on the items of the agenda for the 2021 Annual Shareholders’ 
Meeting.

Appreciation
The Supervisory Board thanks all the employees and the 
management of the Daimler Group for their commitment and 
contributions in a financial year 2020 marked by the covid-19 
pandemic.

The Supervisory Board also thanks Dr. Paul Achleitner, who 
closely accompanied the Company through his dedicated work 
in the Supervisory Board and stepped down from the Super
visory Board last year.

Stuttgart, February 2021

The Supervisory Board

Dr. Manfred Bischoff 
Chairman





https://www.daimler.com/company/corporate-governance/supervisory-board/
https://www.daimler.com/company/corporate-governance/supervisory-board/
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Daimler and the Capital Market
Global stock markets were marked by a high level of volatility due to uncertainties relating to the 
covid-19 pandemic. The Daimler share was also subject to sharp fluctuations in 2020, but never-
theless increased by 17% over the course of the year. During the year under review, we continued 
to inform institutional investors, sustainability-focused investors, analysts, rating agencies and 
private investors by means of a wide range of investor relations activities and comprehensive 
reporting on the Group’s business development and prospects. The Board of Management and the 
Supervisory Board will propose to the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting that a dividend of €1.35 
(2019: €0.90) per share be paid for 2020.

Daimler share price rises 17% over the year
In view of the ongoing transformation of the automotive indus-
try, investors maintained a reserved position with regard to 
automotive stocks up until mid-February. After that, develop-
ments were impacted by growing concerns relating to the 
coronavirus, with the mood on stock markets deteriorating 
dramatically as a result. Just a few days after we announced 
that due to the expanding scope of the covid-19 pandemic we 
would be suspending most of our production operations and 
the activities in selected administrative departments in Europe 
for an initial period of two weeks, the Daimler share price 
dropped to its lowest point of the year in a very weak stock-
market environment, falling to €21.84 on March 19.

Stock prices then began rising significantly, mainly as a 
response to the implementation of various monetary and fiscal 
policy measures. The Daimler share price also recorded a sig-
nificant increase during this period. This positive development 
was also due to the Daimler management team’s rapid response 
to the crisis in the form of immediate measures taken to safe-
guard liquidity, optimize costs, adjust production operations 
and ensure a stronger focus on cash flow. Investors were also 
encouraged by positive developments on the Chinese auto
motive market. This momentum was reinforced by various 
other strategic initiatives in addition to the announcement that 
Daimler Truck AG and the Volvo Group would be establishing  
a joint venture for series production of fuel cells, in part to 
support the European Green Deal.

Following a brief consolidation phase around the middle of the 
year, automotive stocks, which had come under strong pres-
sure throughout the previous course of the year, were able to 
rally and post significant gains once again. The Daimler share 
benefited here initially from the release of our financial figures 
for the second quarter of 2020, which turned out to be more 
favorable than most analysts had expected. The announce-
ment of measures for optimizing fixed costs also played a role 
in the positive development of the share price. In addition, 
agreements in principle regarding the settlement of govern-
ment and civil legal actions in the United States in connection 
with diesel emissions, as well as the positive sales figures 
recorded by Mercedes-Benz Cars and the presentation of the 
new S-Class, led to increased investment in our company.

A.02
Development of Daimler’s share price and of major indices

End of 2020 End of 2019 20/19
% change

Daimler share price (in euros) 57.79 49.37 +17
Highest1 58.77 59.31 -1 
Lowest1 21.84 40.53 -46

DAX 30 13,719 13,249 +4 
Euro STOXX 50 3,553 3,745 -5 
STOXX Europe Auto Index 528 509 +4 
1	 Closing prices
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DAX

Daimler AG 

120

110

100

90

80

70

60

50

40

A.03

12/31/206/30/20

Share price index

12/31/19



https://www.daimler.com/investors/share/voting-rights/


https://www.daimler.com/ir/am2020/
https://register.daimler.com
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Cash flow
A change in net assets — for example as a result of investments 
— generally leads to the application or release of liquid funds. 
Along with earnings, net assets thus also have a direct effect 
on the cash flow. Of outstanding importance for the financial 
strength of the Daimler Group is the free cash flow of the 
industrial business, which comprises the cash flows at the 
automotive divisions and the cash flows from interest, taxes 
and other reconciliation items that cannot be allocated to the 
divisions. The operating cash flow before interest and taxes 
(CFBIT) for the automotive divisions is derived from EBIT and 
the change in net assets. The cash conversion rate (CCR) is the 
ratio of CFBIT to EBIT over a period of time and is an important 
measure for cash-flow management. In order to provide a 
more transparent presentation of our ongoing business, we 
additionally calculate and report the adjusted free cash flow of 
the industrial business and the adjusted CFBIT of the automo-
tive divisions. 

The adjustments include individual items if they lead to mate-
rial effects in a reporting period. These individual items can 
relate in particular to legal proceedings and related measures, 
restructuring measures and M&A transactions. On the basis of 
adjusted CFBIT and adjusted EBIT, we report an adjusted cash 
conversion rate (adjusted CCR) for the automotive divisions.

Key performance indicators

The key financial indicators for measuring the operating finan-
cial performance of the Daimler Group, in addition to EBIT and 
revenue, are the free cash flow of the industrial business, 
investment in property, plant and equipment, and expenditure 
for research and development. In addition, adjusted return on 
equity and new business are the key performance indicators 
for Daimler Mobility.

In addition to the financial indicators, we use various non-
financial indicators to help us manage the Group. Of particular 
importance in this respect are the unit sales of our automo-
tive divisions, which we use as the basis for our capacity and 
human resources planning. In 2021, we will also begin using 
the CO2 emissions of our total passenger new car fleet in 
Europe (European Union, Norway and Iceland) as a key perfor-
mance indicator in order to take the increased importance of 
the indicator — in particular with respect to sustainability — into 
account in the controlling of the Group.

Details of the development of non-financial performance indi-
cators can be found in the chapters E Economic Conditions 
and Business Development and E Non-Financial Declaration. 

Declaration on Corporate Governance

The Declaration on Corporate Governance combined for the 
Company and the Group in accordance with Section 289f and 
Section 315d of the German Commercial Code can be found in 
the chapter E Declaration on Corporate Governance and can 
also be viewed on the Internet at w daimler.com/corpgov/en. 
Pursuant to Section 317 Subsection 2 Sentence 6 of the Ger-
man Commercial Code (HGB), the purpose of the audit of the 
statements pursuant to Section 289f Subsections 2 and 5 and 
Section 315d of the HGB by the auditors is limited to determin-
ing whether such statements have actually been provided.

B.03
Cost of capital

2020 2019
In percent

Group, after taxes 8 8
Industrial businesses, before taxes 12 12
Daimler Mobility, before taxes 12 13

https://www.daimler.com/corpgov/en/
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The world economy

During the year under review, the covid-19 pandemic and espe-
cially the measures that were implemented to combat it 
caused the global economy to contract by around 4.0% in real 
terms, thus leading to the most severe recession since the end 
of World War II. As a result, the global gross domestic product 
shrank at more than twice the rate as in the financial crisis of 
2008/2009. Central banks and governments around the world 
have implemented extensive and unusually expansive mea-
sures in order to cushion the impact of this huge drop in eco-
nomic activity on companies and jobs. Thanks to this support, 
last year’s trough of the crisis was already reached in the sec-
ond quarter, globally, when national lockdowns greatly 
restricted large areas of economic activity in almost all of the 
world’s major economies. The subsequent gradual easing of 
these measures initially caused a strong rebound, which, how-
ever, lost considerable momentum in some regions toward the 
end of the year due to a renewed rapid rise in the number of 
infections. The recession and the pandemic-related restric-
tions also caused global trade to contract substantially, which 
hampered growth further, particularly in export-dependent 
economies.

The pandemic hit the economies of the industrialized countries 
very hard. This was also the case in the United States, where 
the economy suffered a major drop in the first half of the year, 
accompanied by a huge increase in unemployment. Thanks to 
numerous monetary and fiscal measures, as well as the com-
paratively moderate governmental restrictions despite continu-
ously high infection rates, the economy recovered very dynam-
ically in the second half of the year. Nonetheless, the country’s 
economic output decreased by 3.5% during the year as a 
whole, compared to 2019. In the first half of the year, the  
covid-19 pandemic and the associated containment measures 
also caused the eurozone to plunge into a deep recession that 
affected the manufacturing and services sectors equally. How-
ever, this drop varied greatly among the different member 
states and was determined not only by the intensity of the pan-

demic but also by a country’s dependence on sectors such as 
tourism and hospitality, which were particularly hard hit by the 
crisis. During the summer, economic activity in Europe also 
recovered considerably amid the easing of restrictions. How-
ever, renewed restrictions as a result of an intense second 
wave of infections that began in the fall affected the economy 
once again and led to a decrease of about 7.0% for the year as 
a whole. The impact on the job market was at least mitigated 
somewhat by short-time work and other employment-protec-
tion measures. Within this context, the German economy 
shrank by an estimated 5.0%. 

Although China was the first country to be affected by the pan-
demic, it was also the first to contain the spread of the virus 
and return to its pre-crisis level already in the course of the 
year despite suffering a major slump in the first quarter. China 
was the only major economy in the world to achieve positive 
growth in the year as a whole, expanding by 2.3%. The other 
Asian economies were also affected by the pandemic to vari-
ous extents, but in some cases were able to benefit from Chi-
na’s quick recovery. However, the economic downturn was 
especially pronounced in India, which had, in absolute terms, 
one of the highest numbers of infections worldwide. As a 
result, its gross domestic product dropped by around 7.5%.

Economic Conditions and Business Development
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The South American economies were particularly hard hit by 
the pandemic. Government budgets and currencies were 
already reeling before the crisis occurred, so that the large 
numbers of infections and long lockdown measures caused 
economic output to drop sharply and recover at only a slow 
pace. The decrease was also pronounced in Central and East-
ern Europe, due to large numbers of infections, disrupted 
industrial supply chains, and the region’s economic depen-
dence on the eurozone. In addition to the pandemic, the econ-
omies of the Middle East were affected by the low oil price, 
which temporarily dropped to below US$20 per barrel during 
the second quarter and, despite recovering somewhat later in 
the year to around US$40 per barrel, was significantly below 
the previous year’s level. The total economic output of the 
emerging markets decreased by around 2.0%.

Currency exchange rates were volatile in this recession-
impacted environment. Against the US dollar, the euro moved 
between $1.070 and $1.228 during the year. At the end of the 
year, the euro was around 9% stronger than at the end of 2019. 
The range of fluctuation of the Japanese yen against the euro 
was 114.6 to 127.2. Year-on-year, at the end of 2020, the euro 
had appreciated by about 4% against the yen. At the end of 
2020, the value of the British pound compared to the euro was 
about 6% lower than at the end of the previous year. The euro 
rose by almost 40% against the Brazilian real and by around 
35% against the Turkish lira. The euro rose considerably 
against the ruble, gaining around 30% of its relative value.

Automotive markets

The development of the global car market was also affected 
by the covid-19 pandemic during the year under review. Even 
though demand already reached its low point in the second 
quarter and recovered gradually thereafter, the global market 
nevertheless contracted substantially by around 15% during the 
year as a whole.  B.05

The Chinese market, which was the first big sales market to be 
affected by the pandemic, decreased slightly. However, at 
around 6%, this drop was less severe than initially expected. 
The US light vehicle market also developed somewhat better 
than feared during the early stage of the pandemic. However, 
at around 15%, the drop in demand was still very pronounced. 

By contrast, the covid-19 pandemic had an especially severe 
impact on the European market. Overall car demand decreased 
by more than 20% in Europe. Of Europe’s three biggest individ-
ual markets, Germany developed best, registering a decrease 
of around 19%, while the markets in France and the UK suf-
fered even greater decreases of around 25% and almost 30% 
respectively.

The economic impact of the covid-19 pandemic also had a 
noticeable effect on demand for vans. In the EU30 region 
(European Union, United Kingdom, Norway and Switzerland), 
the market was significantly lower than in the previous year. 
The market volume for mid-size and large vans was 12% below 
that of the prior year, while the decrease in the small van seg-
ment was even more severe, at more than 25%. The US market 
for large vans was also substantially lower than in the prior 
year, declining by 19%. The demand for large vans also 
decreased considerably in Brazil. In China, however, the mar-
ket for mid-size vans was significantly above the level of the 
prior year.

The severe economic crisis caused the demand for heavy-
duty trucks to decrease sharply in many of Daimler’s key 
sales markets. The North American market contracted by 30%. 
Demand for heavy-duty trucks also dropped substantially in 
the EU30 region, where it decreased by around 28%, according 
to latest estimates. By contrast, the decrease in Brazil was less 
pronounced than initially expected and amounted to some 10%. 
The Japanese market also did better than expected, declining 
by around 7%. 

The bus markets were also affected by the covid-19 crisis. 
Bus demand in the EU30 region was significantly below the 
previous year’s level and the market also contracted consider-
ably in Brazil.
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B.06
Unit sales structure of Mercedes-Benz Cars

A-/B-Class 21%
C-Class 15%
E-Class 16%
S-Class 3%
SUVs* 42%
Sports Cars 1%
smart 2%
* including GLA and GLB

Europe 37%
North America 14%
Asia 46%
Other markets 3%

Business development

Unit sales
Daimler sold a total of 2.84 million vehicles in 2020 (2019: 
3.34 million). The expectation formulated at the beginning of 
the year that unit sales in 2020 would be only slightly lower 
than in the prior year thus could not be fulfilled. However, we 
had already adjusted our sales forecast correspondingly during 
the year in response to the effects of the covid-19 pandemic. 
Unit sales were substantially lower than expected at 
Mercedes-Benz Cars (-13%), Mercedes-Benz Vans (-15%), 
Daimler Trucks (-27%) and Daimler Buses (-38%). 

Against the backdrop of the covid-19 pandemic, Mercedes-
Benz Cars unit sales nonetheless surpassed the two million 
mark in 2020, totaling 2,087,200 vehicles (2019: 2,385,400). 
With unit sales of 2,052,000 (2019: 2,278,300) vehicles, 
Mercedes-Benz was once again the strongest-selling luxury 
brand in the automobile industry. We remain number one in the 
premium segment in Germany and some other key European 
markets, as well as in South Korea, Canada, South Africa and 
Japan. In addition, we delivered more exclusive vehicles than 
any other luxury brand in China, where we once again set a 
sales record.

The A-Class and B-Class models, including the CLA and CLA 
Shooting Brake, attained unit sales of 449,000 vehicles (-15%). 
Sales of C-Class vehicles decreased by 30% to 309,300 
sedans, wagons, coupes and convertibles. A total of 332,400 
vehicles of the E-Class were delivered to customers (-21%). 
Although unit sales decreased to 53,800 vehicles in 2020, the 
S-Class sedan continues to be the world’s best-selling luxury 
sedan. Our unit sales in this market segment dropped to a total 
of 56,000 vehicles (2019: 75,400). 

The SUV segment developed especially favorably, with unit 
sales rising by 12% to 887,500 vehicles. Unit sales of our sports 
cars amounted to 17,800 vehicles and were thus 37% lower 
than in the previous year.

In Europe, Mercedes-Benz Cars sold 783,800 vehicles, or 21% 
less than in 2019. As a result, the drop in sales at Mercedes-
Benz Cars was at least not as pronounced as that of the Euro-
pean market as a whole. However, we registered major 
decreases in Germany (-16%), the UK (-35%) and France (-23%). 
Mercedes-Benz Cars was once again very successful in China, 
where unit sales built on the growth of the previous years by 
rising by 9% to 758,100 vehicles. At 286,800 vehicles, unit 
sales in North America did not reach the high level of the prior 
year (2019: 368.900). Sales decreased in the United States, 
our main market there, by 21% to 248.800 units.

The smart brand sold 35,200 fortwo and forfour vehicles 
worldwide (2019: 107,100). This decrease was influenced by the 
complete switchover of the models to all-electric drive sys-
tems.

Mercedes-Benz Vans finished the 2020 financial year with 
unit sales of 374,700 vehicles worldwide (2019: 438,400). This 
substantial decrease of 15% was largely due to the conse-
quences of the covid-19 pandemic. At 245,200 units (2019: 
298,100), sales in the core region of EU30 were lower than in 
the previous year. We sold 109,500 vehicles in Germany during 
this period (2019: 121,300). Unit sales also decreased in North 
America, where they dropped to 54,400 vehicles (2019: 
56,500). However, we achieved a new record of 47,500 vehi-
cles in the United States (2019: 45,700). In Latin America, our 
sales decreased to 12,000 vehicles (2019: 18,600). We 
achieved a new record in China, with 30,500 units (2019: 
29,500).
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B.07
Unit sales structure of Daimler Trucks

EU30 17%
Latin America   9%
North America   39%
Asia 27%
Other markets 8%

In 2020, unit sales by Daimler Trucks were substantially lower 
than in the previous year. This development was largely due to 
the strong contraction of our global core markets as a result of 
the covid-19 pandemic. The impact was especially severe dur-
ing the first half of the year; markets began to recover in the 
second half. In total, we delivered 358,300 heavy-, medium- 
and light-duty trucks as well as buses of the Thomas Built 
Buses and FUSO brands in the year under review (2019: 
488,500). Our sales in North America amounted to 139,400 
units (2019: 201,100). Following the high sales figures of the 
previous years, this market had been expected to normalize. 
The covid-19 pandemic caused demand to decrease somewhat 
more than expected. Our sales in the EU30 region amounted to 
60,600 trucks (2019: 79,800).

Unit sales also decreased in Latin America, where they 
dropped to 33,200 trucks (2019: 42,600). Even though the 
decrease in our main Latin American market of Brazil was 
somewhat less pronounced than in Latin America as a whole, it 
was nevertheless significant, with unit sales dropping to 
25,300 trucks (2019: 29,700).

Our sales also decreased in Asia, where they amounted to a 
total of 98,200 units (2019: 135,200). The decreases were 
especially strong in Indonesia and India. In Indonesia, our sales 
sank by 50% to 19,500 units, while they decreased by 34% to 
9,600 vehicles in India. The decrease was much less in our 
third core market in Asia, Japan. However, our sales of 39,100 
units were slightly lower than in the previous year here as well 
(2019: 42,200). 

Due to the strong rise in demand on the Chinese truck market, 
sales of Auman trucks, which we produce in China at our joint 
venture Beijing Foton Daimler Automotive Co., Ltd. (BFDA), 
were significantly higher than in the prior year, at 126,400 units 
(2019: 86,200).

Daimler Buses sold 20,200 buses and chassis worldwide in 
financial year 2020 (2019: 32,600). The marked decrease was 
mainly influenced by the global effects of the covid-19 pan-
demic. In the EU30 region, Daimler Buses sold 7,500 fully 
equipped buses and chassis of the Mercedes-Benz and Setra 
brands. This was 19% less than in the previous year. Unit sales 
decreased especially strongly in the touring coach segment. At 
3,000 (2019: 3,000) units, sales in Germany were at the prior-
year level. Our sales dropped substantially in Mexico, where 
they decreased to 1,500 units (-43%). We sold 5,600 chassis in 
Brazil, which is our main market in Latin America. This repre-
sents a decrease of 50%. Our bus sales in India also dropped 
considerably to 500 units (2019: 1,600).

B.08
Market share1

2020 2019 20/19

in %
Change 

in % points

Mercedes-Benz Cars
European Union 6.3 6.4 -0.1
thereof Germany 10.9 10.8 +0.1
USA 1.9 1.9 0.0
China 3.9 3.3 +0.6
South Korea 4.7 5.1 -0.4
Japan 1.5 1.6 -0.1

Mercedes-Benz Vans
Mid-size and large 
vans EU30 17.1 16.8 +0.3
thereof Germany 27.0 27.0 0.0
Small vans EU30 2.2 2.4 -0.2
Large vans United States 10.5 8.8 +1.7

Daimler Trucks
Heavy- and medium-duty  
trucks EU30 19.5 20.0 -0.5
thereof Germany 36.5 35.2 +1.3
Heavy-duty trucks North America 
(Class 8) 40.0 38.8 +1.2
Medium-duty trucks North America  
(Classes 6 and 7) 32.4 32.9 -0.5
Heavy- and medium-duty  
trucks Brazil 31.8 29.2 +2.6
Trucks Japan 20.4 18.8 +1.6
Trucks Indonesia 49.0 44.2 +4.8
Heavy- and medium-duty  
trucks India 9.1 5.8 +3.3

Daimler Buses
Buses over 8 tons EU30 27.6 27.5 +0.1
thereof Germany 49.0 50.8 -1.8
Buses over 8 tons Brazil 46.7 53.8 -7.1
1	 Based on estimates in certain markets.
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At the end of 2020, the Daimler Mobility division had a con-
tract volume of €150.6 billion (-8%). Adjusted for the effects of 
currency translation, contract volume decreased by 3%. The 
economic effects of the covid-19 pandemic caused new busi-
ness to decrease considerably in the first half of the year, 
although it stabilized in the second half. Daimler Mobility con-
cluded 1.8 million new financing and leasing contracts worth a 
total of €67.8 billion in 2020. The total value of all new con-
tracts was therefore significantly below the prior-year level 
(-9%, adjusted for exchange-rate effects -7%). As a result of the 
pandemic, we were thus unable to meet our original forecast of 
a slight decrease in new business. New business decreased in 
almost all countries of Europe. In Germany, Mercedes-Benz 
Bank’s new business decreased to €11.7 billion (-12%). New 
business in Europe totaled €27.4 billion, which was signifi-
cantly below the prior year’s level. As a result, Daimler Mobili-
ty’s contract volume in Europe dropped by 4% to €64.8 billion. 
The fleet business, consisting of the brands Athlon and Daimler 
Fleet Management, had a total of 402,000 contracts at the end 
of the year (-6%). This corresponds to a contract volume of 
€6.6 billion (-5%).

Daimler Mobility concluded new financing and leasing con-
tracts worth €21.7 billion in the Americas in 2020 (-11%). New 
business decreased substantially in the two biggest countries 
of the region, the United States (-7%) and Canada (-14%). Con-
tract volume in the Americas region amounted to €51.2 billion 
at the end of December and was thus 14% lower than at the 
end of 2019. 

At €6.8 billion, new business in the Africa & Asia-Pacific region 
(excluding China) was also much lower than the prior-year level 
(-19%). At the end of 2020, contract volume in this region 
amounted to €16.8 billion, which was 14% lower than in the 
previous year. By contrast, new business increased signifi-
cantly in China, where we concluded new leasing and financing 
contracts worth €11.9 billion (+29%) in 2020. At the end of 
2020, contract volume in China amounted to €17.7 billion — an 
increase of 8% compared with the end of the previous year. 

Around 2.3 million policies were brokered in the insurance 
business. This corresponds to a decrease of 2%. Following the 
covid-19-related decrease in the first half of the year, the num-
ber of transactions at the mobility services of the YOUR NOW 
joint ventures FREE NOW & REACH NOW, SHARE NOW, and 
PARK NOW & CHARGE NOW stabilized. Since the beginning of 
the second covid-19-wave mid of October the transactions 
slightly declined again. At the same time, the joint ventures 
consistently expanded their offerings in 2020.

Order situation
The Mercedes-Benz Cars, Mercedes-Benz Vans and Daimler 
Trucks & Buses divisions produce both preconfigured vehicles 
and vehicles built to order, in accordance with customers’ 
specifications. While doing so, we flexibly adjust the produc-
tion capacities for the individual models to changing levels of 
demand. Largely due to the demand in China and the positive 
development of the European and North American markets, 
the number of incoming orders at Mercedes-Benz Cars recov-
ered more quickly than expected during the reporting year, 
despite the big drop caused by the covid-19 pandemic in 
March and April. This was driven on the product side primarily 
by the A-Class and B-Class models and the E-Class, as well as 
by the continued strong success of our off-road vehicles. 
Mercedes-Benz Vans also experienced a sharp drop in the 
number of new orders in March and April as a result of the 
covid-19 pandemic. The order situation recovered in the follow-
ing months, especially due to the high demand in the United 
States and the positive development in China and many Euro-
pean markets. This recovery was mainly due to the sales incen-
tives that we initiated as well as to the availability of a broad 
range of products and variants, a great demand for the 
Sprinter and the positive development of the Vito and the 
V-Class during the year as a whole. At the end of 2020, total 
orders at Daimler Trucks & Buses were at the same level as in 
the previous year. In fact, the order backlog was considerably 
higher than at the end of 2019. The main reason for this was 
the substantially higher number of orders in North America.
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B.09
Investment in property, plant and equipment
In billions of euros

Investment and research activities

Investments in property, plant and equipment
We intend to use our divisional strategies to shape the trans-
formation of the automotive industry from a position of leader-
ship in a sustainable, customer-focused, innovative and effi-
cient manner. In view of this situation, sustainability and in 
particular the electrification of our product range are espe-
cially important, as is the digital networking of our products 
and processes along all stages of the value chain. To this end, 
we will have to continue to invest extensively in our global pro-
duction network. In doing so, we are prioritizing the projects in 
all of our divisions in which we will invest in the future. 
Mercedes-Benz Cars, for example, plans to reduce invest-
ments in property, plant and equipment by more than 20% rela-
tive to 2019 by 2025. This focus and the many other measures 
throughout our company aim to sustainably reduce our cost 
base and to improve our industrial footprint.

During the year under review our investments in property, 
plant and equipment deviated from the forecast in the Annual 
Report 2019. They amounted to €5.7 billion (2019: €7.2 billion) 
and were thus much lower than in the previous year. This drop 
and the associated deviation from the forecast were mainly 
due to our measures for cutting costs and safeguarding liquid-
ity, which we implemented in response to the exceptional 
financial burdens caused by the unexpected covid-19 pan-
demic.

In 2020 the investments in property, plant and equipment at 
Mercedes-Benz Cars & Vans focused on production prepara-
tions for the new S-Class and the successor models of the 
compact vehicles as well as the preparations for the launch of 
the new C-Class. In addition, we continued to invest consider-
able funds in battery production. At €4.9 billion, investments in 
property, plant and equipment in 2020 were 17% lower than the 
high level of the prior year.

Investments in property, plant and equipment at Daimler 
Trucks & Buses amounted to €0.8 billion in 2020 (2019: €1.1 
billion). Of this amount, about 55% was dedicated to the opti-
mization of the sales network and to investments in other 
infrastructure projects. This high share of non-product proj-
ects is due to a covid-19-related reduction of the product proj-
ects. Despite the efficiency and capacity measures intensified 
by the covid-19 pandemic, we retained our key strategic goals: 
investments in future-oriented technologies such as electric 
mobility and automated driving. Another focus was on global 
powertrain projects concerning emission standards and fuel 
efficiency, the successor generations of existing products, and 
tailored products for key growth markets.

B.10
Investments in property, plant and equipment by division

2020 2019 20/19
In millions of euros % change

Daimler Group 5,741 7,199 -20
	 in % of revenue 3.7 4.2
Mercedes-Benz Cars & Vans 4,862 5,869 -17
	 in % of revenue 4.9 5.5
Daimler Trucks & Buses 789 1,105 -29
	 in % of revenue 2.3 2.5
Daimler Mobility 39 87 -55
	 in % of revenue 0.1 0.3
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In addition to reporting on the Daimler Group, the development 
of Daimler AG is also described in this section. 

Daimler AG is the parent company of the Daimler Group and its 
headquarters are in Stuttgart.   

Daimler AG acts as an operational and strategic management 
holding company and provides services to the companies of 
the Group. As the parent company, it also decides on the 
Group’s strategy, decides on matters of major importance for 
business operations, and ensures regulatory, legal, and compli-
ance functions throughout the Group. 

The annual financial statements of Daimler AG are prepared in 
accordance with the German Commercial Code (HGB). The 
consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance 
with the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), as 
adopted by the European Union (EU). This results in some dif-
ferences with regard to recognition and measurement, primar-
ily in connection with provisions, financial instruments, the 
leasing business and deferred taxes. 

For Daimler AG as an operational and strategic management 
holding company, net profit or loss is the main performance 
indicator. 

Profitability

The profitability of Daimler AG in the 2020 financial year was 
affected by significantly higher financial income and improved 
operating profit.  B.34 

Daimler AG generated revenue of €1.7 billion primarily from 
the provision of services to companies of the Group (2019: 
€2.0 billion). The decrease in revenue was the result of provid-
ing a lower volume of services to the companies of the Group, 
due to short-time working and efficiency measures. 

Cost of sales decreased to €1.6 billion (2019: €2.0 billion) and 
primarily comprises expenses incurred for the generation of 
revenue from services provided to companies of the Group.

General administrative expenses amounted to €0.9 billion 
(2019: €1.0 billion), including expenses of €0.1 billion from 
ongoing programs for the optimization of personnel costs. The 
prior-year figure takes into consideration costs in connection 
with “Project Future” of €0.2 billion. 

Other operating income amounted to €0.3 billion (2019: 
expense of €0.3 billion) and primarily comprises income from 
the sale of patents in connection with combining the Group-
wide fuel-cell activities and relating to Group-internal deriva-
tives of the vehicle business. 

Financial income increased by €3.4 billion to €2.9 billion, pri-
marily due to higher income from investments in subsidiaries 
and associated companies. This was the result of a positive 
development with profit transfers from subsidiaries. 

The income tax expense amounted to €0.1 billion (2019:  
€0.0 billion). 

Net profit amounts to €2.1 billion (2019: net loss of €1.7 bil-
lion) and is thus in line with the expectation stated in the Out-
look chapter of Annual Report 2019. 

The economic situation of Daimler AG in its function as a 
management holding company mainly depends on the develop-
ment of its subsidiaries. Daimler AG participates in the operat-
ing results of its subsidiaries through dividend distributions 
and profit-and-loss transfers. Its economic situation therefore 
corresponds with that of the Daimler Group, which is described 
in the chapter E Overall Assessment of the Economic Situa-
tion. 

Daimler AG
Condensed version in accordance with the German Commercial Code (HGB) 

B.34
Condensed income statement of Daimler AG

2020 2019
In millions of euros

Revenue 1,685 2,019
Cost of sales -1,641 -1,959

General administrative expenses -928 -964
Other operating income/expense 280 -272
Operating profit -604 -1,176
Financial income/expense 2,878 -546
Income taxes -141 44
Net profit/loss 2,133 -1,678

 
Transfer to/from retained earnings -689 2,641

Distributable profit 1,444 963
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Financial position, liquidity and  
capital resources 

The balance sheet total of €92.6 billion is €6.7 billion lower 
than at the end of 2019. 

Non-current assets decreased during the year 2020 by 
€1.0 billion to €56.2 billion, caused by the €1.0 billion decrease 
in financial assets, which resulted in particular from a decrease 
in loans granted. 

Receivables, securities and other assets decreased com-
pared with December 31, 2019 by €10.4 billion to €28.5 billion. 
This development mainly reflects a decrease in receivables due 
from subsidiaries of €8.5 billion as a result of lower financial 
receivables within the Group, as well as a decrease in receiv-
ables from profit-and-loss-transfer agreements. Furthermore, 
lower tax-refund claims in particular led to a decrease in other 
assets of €0.6 billion. 

Cash and cash equivalents increased from €2.9 billion to 
€7.7 billion. 

Gross liquidity – defined as cash and cash equivalents and 
other marketable securities recognized as current assets, as 
well as fixed-term deposits presented under other assets – 
increased by €3.4 billion to €13.0 billion on the balance sheet 
date. The increase in gross liquidity is primarily due to the 
increase in cash and cash equivalents of €4.8 billion. There 
was an opposing effect from a decrease of €1.3 billion in other 
securities held as current assets.

Cash provided by operating activities amounted to €2.6 bil-
lion in 2020 (2019: €6.8 billion). The decrease resulted in par-
ticular from lower dividend distributions from subsidiaries. 
There was an opposing, positive effect on cash provided by 
operating activities from the improved operating profit. 

Cash flows from investing activities resulted in a net cash 
inflow of €2.3 billion in 2020 (2019: outflow of €7.6 billion). 
Compared with the previous year, there were lower cash out-
flows in the area of financial assets from the corporate restruc-
turing within the framework of “Project Future.” In addition, 
there was an effect in 2020 from a capital repayment by the 
subsidiary Daimler Nederland B.V. to Daimler AG. There was a 
net cash inflow of €1.3 billion from acquisitions and disposals 
of securities held as current assets conducted in the context of 
liquidity management. 

Cash flows from financing activities resulted in a net cash 
outflow of €0.1 billion (2019: €2.6 billion). The change is 
explained on the one hand by a lower dividend payment to the 
Daimler shareholders. On the other hand, the change is due to 
the net positive development of receivables from and liabilities  
to subsidiaries from intra-Group transactions in connection 
with central financial and liquidity management. The repay-
ment of external financing liabilities resulted in a cash outflow 
in 2020, whereas proceeds from financing liabilities resulted in 
a cash inflow in the previous year. 

Equity increased in 2020 by €1.2 billion to €39.2 billion, pri-
marily as a result of the net profit for 2020, of which €0.7 bil-
lion was transferred to retained earnings pursuant to Section 
58 Subsection 2 of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG). 
The equity ratio at December 31, 2020 was 42.3% (December 
31, 2019: 38.3%). Daimler AG holds no treasury shares at 
December 31, 2020. 

Provisions increased compared with December 31, 2019 by 
€0.1 billion to €1.7 billion.  

Liabilities decreased by €8.1 billion to €51.6 billion. This was 
mainly because of the decrease of €3.5 billion in liabilities to 
subsidiaries, which mainly reflects lower losses transferred 
from subsidiaries. In addition, bonds and notes of €3.1 billion 
were redeemed and liabilities to banks of €1.5 billion were 
repaid.

B.35
Balance sheet structure of Daimler AG

Dec. 31, 
2020

Dec. 31, 
2019

In millions of euros

Assets
Non-current assets 56,161 57,214
Receivables, securities and other assets 28,471 38,925
Cash and cash equivalents 7,658 2,942
Current assets 36,129 41,867
Prepaid expenses 341 285

92,631 99,366

Equity and liabilities
Share capital 3,070 3,070
(conditional capital €500 million)
Capital reserve 11,480 11,480
Retained earnings 23,230 22,541
Distributable profit 1,444 963
Equity 39,224 38,054
Provisions for pensions and similar obligations 193 94
Other provisions 1,550 1,511
Provisions 1,743 1,605
Trade payables 140 227
Other liabilities 51,487 59,474
Liabilities 51,627 59,701
Deferred income 37 6

92,631 99,366
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Non-Financial Declaration

Among other things, we focused extensively on the 17 Sustain-
able Development Goals (SDGs) defined by the United Nations 
when we formulated our strategic goals, with special emphasis 
placed on SDGs 8, 9 and 11–13.

We also orient ourselves on international frameworks, the 
needs of our external and internal stakeholders and global 
trends. We used these points of reference to derive Group-
wide areas of action and to define areas of responsibility as 
well as business-specific targets, processes and measures.

More specifically, our strategic objectives involve the following 
six areas of action:

–	� Climate protection and air quality: Plans call for our new 
vehicle fleet to be CO2-neutral by 2039, when it should no 
longer have any relevant impact on air quality in inner cities.

–	� Resource conservation: We want to decouple resource con-
sumption from business volume growth.

–	�L ivable cities: We are improving the quality of life in cities 
through our leading mobility and transport solutions.

–	�T raffic safety: We are working to make our vision of acci-
dent-free driving a reality as we develop automated driving 
systems while also taking social and ethical issues into 
account.

–	� Data responsibility: Our future will consist of sustainable, 
data-based business models. They will enable us to focus on 
our customers’ needs and handle all data responsibly. 

–	�H uman rights: We have assumed responsibility for respect-
ing and upholding human rights along our automotive value 
chain.

We work closely together with our partners in industry, govern-
ment and society at large in order to achieve our objectives. 
We also rely on the dedication and commitment of our employ-
ees, who are helping to shape the transformation. We have 
defined three enablers, or principles, that are crucial for 
achieving success in the six areas of action: integrity, people  
and partnerships.

More detailed information on “Sustainability at Daimler” can 
also be found in the new Daimler Sustainability Report for 
financial year 2020, which will be available on the Group’s web-
site from the end of March 2021. w daimler.com/sustainabil-
ity

We publish the non-financial declaration in accordance with 
the provisions of the German Commercial Code (HGB). They 
apply to Daimler AG (Sections 289b–289e HGB) and the 
Daimler Group (Sections 315b, 315c HGB). The non-financial  
declaration contains the main information on the aspects of 
environmental, employee and social matters, combating cor-
ruption and bribery, and respect for human rights. The informa-
tion provided in this declaration is presented in conformity 
with the GRI Standards of the Global Reporting Initiative, inso-
far as this complies with applicable law. Some aspects are pre-
sented in accordance with internal guidelines and definitions. 
You can find additional information about our business model 
in the chapter E Business Model, while the risks connected 
with the aspects in this report can be found in the E Risk 
and Opportunity Report. 

Sustainability at Daimler

At Daimler, sustainability means generating sustainable eco-
nomic, environmental and social value added for all of our 
stakeholders: i.e. our customers, investors, employees, busi-
ness partners, and society as a whole. We therefore design the 
solutions we offer today to be central components of mobility 
systems that will be climate-neutral and sustainable tomorrow. 
Together with players from industry, government and society 
we thus create value added for all of society while also laying 
the foundation for our future business success. This holistic 
strategic approach applies not only to our own products and 
manufacturing locations but also to our entire upstream and 
downstream value chain.

Our sustainable business strategy
The foundation for our approach here is provided by the sus-
tainable business strategies of our divisions, which were 
adopted by the Board of Management in 2019. Since that time, 
our sustainability and business strategies have merged and 
there is no longer any distinction between them. This means 
that rather than being a supplement to our business strategies, 
sustainability issues are instead an integral component of 
them. Just as relevant as promising business targets are the 
ambitions, goals and measures that we are implementing so 
that Daimler can increase the positive impact it is having on 
society and the environment. 

https://www.daimler.com/sustainability/


https://www.daimler.com/documents/investors/presentations/daimler-ir-tcfden-20200307.pdf


https://supplier-portal.daimler.com/docs/DOC-1458


https://www.daimler.com/sustainability/




https://sustainabilityreport.daimler.com/
https://www.daimler.com/investors/reports-news/financial-news/20200728-secureemployment-and-profitability.html






https://www.daimler.com/documents/sustainability/other/sd2020-overall-plenaryreports-working-groups-en.pdf


https://sustainabilityreport.daimler.com/2019/servicepages/downloads/files/daimler_2019_memberships.pdf










https://www.daimler.com/documents/sustainability/other/sd2020-overall-plenaryreports-working-groups-en.pdf


https://sustainabilityreport.daimler.com/
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The 2020 financial year held special challenges for the Daimler 
Group.

In addition to the demanding transformation processes that we 
have to master in the automotive industry, the development of 
our profitability, cash flows and financial position also reflected 
the adverse effects of the covid-19 pandemic.

With the help of our active operational and financial counter-
measures, we succeeded in meeting the adjusted expectations 
for the development of business in the past year. 

We are confident for the 2021 financial year. This confidence, 
however, is based on the assumption that the covid-19 pan-
demic will be gradually contained in our most important mar-
kets and that further setbacks for global economic develop-
ment will be avoided. 

Overall Assessment of the Economic Situation

Events after the Reporting Period 
On February 3, 2021, the Board of Management of Daimler AG 
decided, with the consent of the Supervisory Board, to evalu-
ate a spin-off of Daimler Trucks & Buses including significant 
parts of the related financial services business (Daimler Truck), 
and to begin preparations for a separate listing of Daimler 
Truck before the end of 2021. Within the framework of the pro-
posed transaction, Daimler intends to transfer a majority inter-
est in Daimler Truck to its shareholders. Shareholder approval 
could be granted at an Extraordinary Shareholders’ Meeting of 
Daimler AG at the end of the third quarter of 2021. Daimler 
intends to maintain a minority interest in Daimler Truck.
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Principles of Board of Management 
remuneration

Goals
The remuneration system for the Board of Management mem-
bers that was approved by 95.33% of the votes at the 2020 
Annual Shareholders’ Meeting aims to promote the Company’s 
business strategy and its sustainable long-term development. 
When determining the total remuneration of the individual 
Board of Management members on the basis of the remunera-
tion system that was approved by the Annual Shareholders’ 
Meeting, Daimler takes the condition of the Company into 
account as well as the members’ areas of activity and respon-
sibility. This is done in line with legal requirements and with a 
clear focus on the competition. A balanced combination of 
non-performance-related (fixed) and performance-related 
(variable) components of remuneration that also takes into 
account suitably ambitious performance parameters and per-
formance indicators provides the Board of Management with 
an incentive to implement the corporate strategy and ensure 
the Group’s sustained success. In this way, Daimler reconciles 
the interests of all stakeholders, in particular those of the 
shareholders as the owners of the Company and those of the 
employees.

In addition to ensuring the appropriateness of the remunera-
tion with regard to performance and market conformance 
while taking the size, complexity and economic situation of the 
Group into account, Daimler strongly focuses on making the 
remuneration system of the Board of Management consistent 
with that of the management team. The latter aspect ensures 
that all of the decision-makers pursue uniform goals while tak-
ing the same financial and sustainability/Environment Social 
Governance (ESG) aspects into account and promoting 
Daimler’s cultural and organizational realignment. Further 
information about the remuneration system that was approved 
by the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting is available on the com-
pany’s website at w daimler.com/company/corporate-gover-
nance/board-of-management/compensation.

Practical implementation
For each upcoming financial year, the Presidential Committee 
at first prepares a review by the Supervisory Board of the 
remuneration system and the level of remuneration and where 
necessary prepares suggestions for changes. In the process, 
the Presidential Committee and the Supervisory Board can 
avail themselves of the advice of external remuneration 
experts. This was also done in the year under review.

The remuneration system agreed upon by the Supervisory 
Board is presented to the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting for its 
approval. The Supervisory Board regularly reviews the Board of 
Management remuneration system on the basis of the prepara-
tions and recommendations made by the Presidential Commit-
tee. The Supervisory Board makes any changes that are 
deemed necessary. If major changes are made to the remuner-
ation system, or at least at intervals of four years, it is pre-
sented to the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting for approval. If the 
Annual Shareholders’ Meeting does not approve the remunera-
tion system, a revised remuneration system has to be submit-
ted for approval to the next ordinary Annual Shareholders’ 
Meeting at the very latest.

On the basis of the approved remuneration system, the Super-
visory Board determines the amount of the target total remu-
neration of the individual Board of Management members for 
the upcoming financial year. It is set in an appropriate relation-
ship to the responsibilities and performance of each Board of 
Management member and to the situation of the Group. In 
addition, the Supervisory Board makes sure that the target 
total remuneration is appropriate to the market. To do this, it 
makes both a horizontal and a vertical comparison.

Taking into account Daimler’s market position (especially with 
regard to sector, size and country), the horizontal (external) 
comparison of the target total remuneration draws on a suit-
able group of companies from the DAX and comparable com-
panies in Germany along with a group of international competi-
tors consisting of listed automotive manufacturers. The 
following aspects are given particular attention:
–	�� the effects of the individual fixed and variable components, 

that is, the methods behind them and their performance 
parameters;

–	�� the relative weighting of the components, that is, the rela-
tionship between the fixed base salary and the short, 
medium and long-term variable components;

–	�� and the amount of the target remuneration consisting of a 
fixed base remuneration, an annual bonus as a short and 
medium-term variable component, and a long-term variable 
remuneration, also with consideration of entitlement to a 
retirement pension and fringe benefits.

Remuneration Report

https://www.daimler.com/company/corporate-governance/board-of-management/compensation/
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B.38

Target remuneration consists of non-performance-related 
and performance-related components:

Remuneration structure 

base salary  
(non-performance-related) approx. 30%
short- and medium-term 
performance-related 
components approx. 30%
long-term performance-related 
components approx. 40%

B.39
Calculation of the maximum amount of remuneration (cash flow cap) 
and maximum total remuneration 2020

Maximum amount of remuneration 
(cash flow cap)

=  Target remuneration

+

=

=

Base salary Annual bonus Performance 
Phantom Share Plan

Maximum total remuneration pursuant to 
Section 87a Subsection 1 Sentence 2 No. 1 German Stock Corporation Act (AktG)

Fringe benefits Retirement pension commitment+

×  1.7 
(Chairman of the Board of Management)

×  1.9 
(Ordinary members of 

the Board of Management)

Sum of the 
monthly payments Value when grantedTarget bonus  

(= 100% of the base salary)+ +

Base salary in 2020
+ Annual bonus in 2020  (50% paid out in 2021 + 50% paid out in 2022)
+ PPSP payment for 2020 (in 2024) incl. dividend equivalent payments

Total cash payments1 2020
+ Fringe benefits 2020
+ Retirement pension commitment 2020

Total remuneration2 in 2020

The possible cap on the amount exceeding the maximum amount of 
remuneration1 and/or the maximum total remuneration2 takes place with the 
payment of the PPSP for 2020 in 2024.

The system of Board of Management remuneration in 2020
The fixed base salary and the annual bonus each comprise 
approximately 30% of the target remuneration (without the 
retirement pension commitments and fringe benefits), while 
the variable component of remuneration with a long-term 
incentive effect (PPSP) makes up approximately 40% of the tar-
get remuneration.  B.38

Additional components of the non-performance-related remu-
neration are the retirement pension commitments and the 
fringe benefits (non-cash benefits in kind: mainly expenses for 
security precautions that are borne by the Company and the 
provision of company cars). The contribution to the pension 
plan is currently 15% of the sum of the base salary and the total 
annual bonus as determined at the end of the reporting period. 
As a rule and on average, the fringe benefits have generally 
amounted to 25% of the base salary over the past three years.

As before, only 50% of the annual bonus is paid out in the 
March of the following financial year. The other 50% is paid out 
a year later (deferral) with the application of a bonus-malus 
rule, depending on the development of the Daimler share price 
compared with an automotive index (STOXX Europe Auto 
Index) E Daimler and the Capital Market, which Daimler AG 
uses as a benchmark for the relative share-price development. 
Both the delayed payout of the portion of the annual bonus 
(with the use of the bonus-malus rule) and the variable compo-
nent of remuneration from the PPSP with its link to additional, 
ambitious comparative parameters and to the share price 
reflect the recommendations of the German Corporate Gover-
nance Code as amended on December 16, 2019, which stipu-
lates that the variable remuneration that results from the 
achievement of long-term objectives should exceed that from 
short-term objectives.

The maximum amounts of remuneration of Board of Manage-
ment members are limited, not only with regard to the variable 
components but also by a maximum amount for the cash pay-
ment and a maximum total remuneration pursuant to Section 
87a Subsection 1 Sentence 2 No. 1 of the German Stock Cor-
poration Act (AktG).

The maximum amounts of the cash payments to the members 
of the Board of Management were set at 1.9 times the sum of 
the base salary, the target annual bonus, and the value when 
granted of the PPSP for its members. It is 1.7 times for the 
Chairman of the Board of Management. The possible cap on 
the amount exceeding the maximum limit of the cash pay-
ments takes place with the payment of the PPSP issued in the 
relevant financial year, i.e. for the year 2020, with payment of 
the PPSP 2020 in 2024.  B.39

Pursuant to Section 87a Subsection 1 Sentence 2 No. 1 of the 
German Stock Corporation Act (AktG), the Supervisory Board 
has also set a maximum remuneration that was analyzed with 
regard to its appropriateness. This remuneration includes 
fringe benefits (non-cash benefits: expenses for security pre-
cautions that are mainly borne by the Company and the provi-
sion of company cars) as well as the maximum generally deter-
mined amounts of the retirement pension expense. The 
maximum remuneration for one financial year amounts to 
€12,000,000 for the Chairman of the Board of Management 
and €7,200,000 for an ordinary member of the Board of Man-
agement. The possible cap on the amount exceeding the maxi-
mum total remuneration also takes place with the payment of 
the PPSP issued in the relevant financial year.

The individual components of the remuneration system are as 
follows:
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B.40

base salary – fixed – oriented towards the area of responsibility 
Base salary – fixed

base salary  
(non-performance-related) approx. 30%
paid out in twelve monthly 
installments

B.41
Annual bonus – short- and medium-term 
performance-related remuneration

annual bonus 2020 = target bonus × overall target achievement 
   target bonus   target achievement 50% EBIT / 50% FCF IB
   = 100% of  +/- target achievement for the
    base salary   non-financial targets 
    2020  +/- target achievement for the
        transformation targets 
      overall target achievement (max 200%) 

time of payment of annual bonus 2020
50% of annual bonus = in March of the year after the reporting year (2021) 
50% of annual bonus (deferral) = in March of the second year after the reporting year (2022)
amount paid out deferral = 50% of annual bonus × “relative share performance”1

1  Depending on the development of the Daimler share price compared with 
    the STOXX Europe Auto Index. 

short- and medium-term 
performance-related components approx. 30%

Fixed remuneration components 
The base salary is fixed remuneration relating to the entire 
year, oriented toward the area of responsibility and the experi-
ence of each Board of Management member and paid out in 
twelve monthly installments. For financial year 2020, the Board 
of Management members have voluntarily agreed to forgo 20% 
of their base salary from April 1 to December 31, 2020.  B.40

Fringe benefits are an additional component of the fixed remu-
neration. These are mainly composed of expenses for security 
precautions and the provision of company cars. In addition, 
special location-based services can be provided for Board of 
Management members who work abroad. In exceptional cases, 
members who are newly appointed to the Board of Manage-
ment can receive one-time payments to reimburse them for 
the loss of remuneration from their immediately previous 
employment. 

The details of the retirement benefit commitments are 
described in a separate section in this chapter.

Variable remuneration components 
The annual bonus is a short and medium-term variable remu-
neration that provides an incentive for the contribution made 
in the financial year to the operational implementation of our 
corporate strategy, in particular the future-proofing expansion 
of our business model as a vehicle manufacturer and a pro-
vider of mobility services. The financial performance criteria 
are based on the operating result of the Daimler Group (EBIT) 
and the free cash flow of the industrial business, each of which 
is weighted at 50%. In addition to revenue, EBIT and the free 
cash flow of the industrial business are the most important 
financial performance indicators for the Daimler Group’s oper-
ational financial performance.  B.41

The annual bonus is also impacted by the transformation tar-
gets set by the Supervisory Board as well as by the sustainabil-
ity-oriented non-financial targets for the Board of Management 
as a whole. These factors can raise or lower the annual bonus 
by up to 0% – +25% and +/-10%, respectively.

Amount with 100% target achievement (target annual 
bonus)
In 2020, this is equivalent to the respective base salary.

B.42
Overview of the determination of the annual bonus from January 1, 2020

Financial targets
Strategic objective for both 
financial targets

—	�E BIT targeted/actual com-
parison (50% weighting)

—	� Free cash flow of the 
industrial business tar-
geted/actual comparison 
(50% weighting)

Non-financial targets
—	E mployee targets
—	 Customer targets
—	 Diversity targets
—	I ntegrity targets

Transformation targets
—	S ustainability
—	� Digitalization/ 

connectivity/  
integrated services

—	�E lectric driving/ 
autonomous driving

—	� 50% payout after one year
—	� 50% deferral coupled  

with share price  
performance compared 
to competitors

0% – 200% -10% – +10% 0% – 25% Maximally 200% (cap)
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B.43

EBIT /
FCF IB

Target achievement target – actual
In billions of euros   

Actual target achievement 
EBIT = 6.60
FCF IB = 9.18

Achievement of EBIT respectively FCF IB target results in 150% target achievement

Financial targets: 
EBIT and free cash flow of the industrial business (FCF IB)

150% for
target

200% for
125% target

0% for
25% target

EBIT = 17.99
FCF IB = 7.58

EBIT = 14.36
FCF IB = 6.06

200%

150%

100%

50%

0%

EBIT = 3.48
FCF IB = 1.52

Financial targets
The target value of EBIT for each financial year continues to be 
derived on the basis of the desired medium-term return, which 
is set by the Supervisory Board and is ambitious and oriented 
toward the competitive environment, and derived from the 
growth targets. The starting point of the calculation is the rev-
enue of the previous year. The target value for the free cash 
flow of the industrial business in the respective financial year 
is based on the defined EBIT target of the segments of the 
automobile business as well as on a strategic target for the 
cash conversion rate. The cash conversion rate is the propor-
tion of the period’s result that is scheduled to flow into the 
Group’s liquidity after the payments for the necessary invest-
ments in research, development, tangible fixed assets and 
working capital are taken into account as part of the strategic 
growth target. When comparing the target free cash flow of the 
industrial business to the actual one, adjustments are made for 
certain factors that were taken into account in the target 
achievement of the annual bonus in 2019 or earlier.

Reference parameters:
– 50% comparison of actual EBIT in 2020 with EBIT targeted for       
   2020
– 50% comparison of actual free cash flow of the industrial     
   business in 2020 with free cash flow of the industrial  
   business targeted for 2020
The range of possible target achievement for the two financial 
targets (EBIT and free cash flow of the industrial business) is 
between 0% and 200%. The lower limit of this range is 25% of 
the target value; the upper limit is 125% of the target value. If 
the actually achieved value is at or under the lower limit of the 
range, the target achievement degree is always 0%. The total 
absence of a bonus is therefore possible. 

If the actually achieved value is at or above the upper limit of 
the range, the target achievement degree is 200%, which is the 
maximum it can reach. The degree of target achievement 
develops linearly within the range.  B.43

Non-financial targets
The non-financial targets, which are oriented toward sustain-
ability and cultural aspects and have been uniform at all man-
agement levels since financial year 2019, are divided into four 
categories. Each category is weighted equally and receives an 
addition or a deduction of up to 2.5 percentage points to or 
from the degree of achievement of the financial target. After 
the end of the financial year, the degree of target achievement 
is calculated by comparing the target value and the actual 
value. On this basis, an addition to or a deduction from the 
degree of financial target achievement of up to a total amount 
of 10 percentage points is possible. The total of the addition or 
deduction resulting from the non-financial targets is rounded 
to two significant figures. For the financial year 2020 this 
results in an addition of +6% (rounded).
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Specifically:
Achievement of the Group-level targets regarding the further 
development and permanent establishment of integrity was 
measured on the basis of certain standardized questions in a 
global employee survey. This measurement was based on the 
achieved approval rate of any question and the average 
approval rate achieved across all questions (integrity indica-
tor). This served as the basis for determining that +2.0% of the 
target was achieved at the Group level.  B.44

Quality and/or customer satisfaction targets (quality KPIs of all 
divisions) were defined by the individual divisions for the finan-
cial year. With regard to vehicles, a comparison of the target 
number and the actual number of claims during a predefined 
period of time (MIS xx) was carried out. With regard to ser-
vices, this comparison was carried out by means of a customer 
satisfaction index. The degree of target achievement at the 
Group level (+1.0%) was derived as a weighted average of the 
individual divisional degrees of target achievement.  B.45

The degree of the employees’ commitment to the Group 
(employee engagement) was calculated on the basis of their 
answers to certain standardized questions in our global 
employee survey. These answers, together with the participa-
tion rate achieved in the employee survey, were used to derive 
a +1.0% degree of target achievement at the Group level for the 
maintenance and enhancement of a high level of satisfaction 
and motivation among the employees.  B.46

A target for the proportion of women in executive positions 
was defined at the Group level for a period of several years on 
the basis of Daimler’s in-house guidelines for the proportion of 
women in management positions (Gender Diversity Aspira-
tional Guidelines), which go beyond the legally obligatory tar-
gets. A +2.0% degree of target achievement was determined 
for this in a comparison of actual and target values that was 
conducted at the end of the financial year.  B.47

Transformation targets
The transformation targets represent both quantitative and 
qualitative aspects. They can add up to 25 percentage points 
to the degree to which the financial targets have been 
achieved.

In order to take into account the implementation of the future-
oriented measures for the technological and sustainable 
realignment of the Group, the divisions defined measurable 
key performance indicators and target values from the future-
oriented fields at the beginning of financial year 2020. Here, as 
an integral part of our corporate strategy, sustainability/Envi-
ronment Social Governance (ESG) aspects have an explicit sig-
nificance for our business dealings.

After the conclusion of financial year 2020, a comparison of 
the actual and target values was conducted for the transforma-
tion targets of each division in the topic areas of Sustainabil-
ity/Digitalization/Connectivity/Integrated Service/Electric 
Driving/Autonomous Driving. The Supervisory Board derived 
the Board of Management’s shared degree of target achieve-
ment from the divisions’ degree of target achievement as well 
as the strategic, organizational and structural contribution of 
the Board of Management as a whole, taking into account the 
economic environment and the competitive situation and posi-
tioning of the Group. For the financial year 2020 this leads to 
the addition of +20% to the degree to which the financial tar-
gets have been achieved.

B.44
Integrity

Degree of target 
achievement

Addition or 
deduction 

Integrity  
indicator + Approval rate  

of any question
Excellent 2.5% > 80% > 74%
Good 2.0% 71–80% 65–74%
Average 1.0% 61–70% 60–64%
Low -2.5% ≤ 60% ≤ 59 %

B.45
Quality

Degree of target 
achievement

Addition or 
deduction 

Quality KPIs 
of all divisions

Excellent 2.5% The addition or deduction is  
dependent on the respective target value,  

which is defined for each  
specific division and product.

Good 2.0%
Average 1.0%
Low -2.5%

B.46
Employee engagement

Degree of target 
achievement

Addition or 
deduction 

Employee  
engagement + Participation 

rate
Excellent 2.5% > 35% > 70%
Good 2.0% 31–35% 66–70%
Average 1.0% 25–30% 61–65%
Low -2.5% ≤ 25% ≤ 60%

B.47
Diversity

Degree of target 
achievement

Addition or 
deduction 

Gender Diversity  
Aspirational Guidelines

Excellent 2.5% Target overachieved ≥10%
Good 2.0% Target overachieved < 10%
Average 1.0% Target achieved
Low -2.5% Target not achieved
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B.48
Performance Phantom Share Plan (PPSP) –
long-term performance-related remuneration

amount when granted in euros
price of Daimler shares when issued  

= preliminary number of phantom shares
    (virtual shares)
    three-year dividend entitlement 

after expiry of third plan year 
preliminary number of phantom shares × performance factor 
= final number of phantom shares, dividend entitlement in fourth year 
 
after expiry of fourth plan year 
final number of phantom shares × Daimler share price at end of plan 
= amount paid out 

Time of payment of Performance Phantom Share Plan 2020 
in February of the year 2024 

 

 
 

long-term performance-related 
remuneration approx. 40%

Limit for the annual bonus
The total amount to be paid out from the annual bonus is lim-
ited to 2 times the base salary of the respective financial year.

Malus/clawback
Agreements have been reached with all the members of the 
Board of Management allowing for the partial reduction or 
complete elimination of the annual bonus for any member who 
violates the duties of Section 93 of the German Stock Corpora-
tion Act (AktG) or in particular the principles laid down in the 
Company’s Integrity Code. If it is not possible to reduce a 
future bonus payment or a payment that has yet to be made, 
the Board of Management member in question will be required 
to pay back the amount of the bonus reduction. The Supervi-
sory Board has the final decision on all such bonus reductions.

The Performance Phantom Share Plan (PPSP) is a variable 
element of remuneration with long-term incentive effects. At 
the beginning of the plan, the Supervisory Board specifies a 
grant value (absolute amount in euros) in the context of setting 
the individual annual target remuneration. This amount is 
divided by the relevant average price of Daimler shares calcu-
lated over a predefined long period of time, which results in 
the preliminary number of phantom shares allocated.

Also at the beginning of the plan, performance targets are set 
for a period of three years (performance period). Depending on 
the achievement of these performance targets with a possible 
range of 0% to 200%, after three years the phantom shares 
allocated at the beginning of the plan are converted into the 
final number of phantom shares allocated. After another plan 
year has elapsed (retention period), the amount to be paid out 
is calculated from this final number of phantom shares and the 
applicable share price at that time. The share price relevant for 
the payout under this plan is also relevant to allocating the pre-
liminary number of phantom shares for the plan newly issued 
in the respective year.  B.48  B.49

A dividend equivalent is applied for each phantom share held if 
a dividend is paid out for Daimler shares in the respective year. 
The amount of the dividend equivalent is based on the dividend 
that is paid out during the respective year for an actual share 
in the Company. During the performance period, it is granted 
for the preliminary number of phantom shares that have been 
allocated; in the year of the retention period, it is granted for 
the final number of phantom shares.

Value upon allocation
Determined annually by the Supervisory Board; for 2020, 
approximately 1.4 times the base salary.

B.49
PPSP 2020

dependent upon

Development of  
the performance factor

– �50% relates to the “return on sales” achieved 
in a three-year comparison with the defined 
group of competitors 
Bandwidth of possible target achievement:  
0% – 200%1

– �50% relates to “relative share performance,” 
i.e. the performance of Daimler’s share in a 
three-year comparison with the performance 
of the defined group of competitors (index). 
Bandwidth of possible target achievement:  
0% – 200%

Development of the  
Daimler share price

Price when issued and price at the end of the 
plan period Bandwidth of possible price devel-
opment:  
maximum of 2.5 times the issue price

Maximum performance development (total cap) 
2.5 times the amount granted 
(including dividend equivalent payments throughout the plan period)
Stock ownership guidelines 
Share purchase obligation of up to 25% of the gross remuneration until the 
defined number of shares (between 20,000 and 75,000) has been purchased 
(shares to be held until the end of the term of service)
1	�M aximum of 195% if, in the event of target achievement of 195% – 200%, the 

strategic return target has not been reached.
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Performance parameters for Plan 2020
–	�� 50% relates to the Group’s return on sales in a three-year 

comparison with a group of competitors comprising listed 
vehicle manufacturers with an automotive component of 
more than 70% by revenue and an investment-grade credit 
rating (BMW, GM, Honda, Hyundai, Isuzu, Kia, Mazda, Nis-
san, Paccar, PSA Peugeot Citroen, Renault, Subaru, Suzuki, 
Toyota, Volvo and Volkswagen). For the measurement of suc-
cess, the competitors’ average return on sales is calculated 
over a period of three years. Target achievement occurs to 
the extent to which Daimler’s return on sales deviates by a 
maximum of +/-2 percentage points from 105% of the calcu-
lated average of the competitors.

	 –	��T arget achievement of 100% only occurs when the average 
return on sales of the Daimler Group reaches 105% of the 
revenue-weighted average return on sales of the group of 
competitors. Maximum target achievement of 200% 
occurs if Daimler’s return on sales exceeds 105% of the 
revenue-weighted average of the competitors by 2 per-
centage points or more. An additional limitation was 
implemented starting with PPSP 2015: If a target achieve-
ment of between 195% and 200% occurs, the maximum 
target achievement calculated from the performance 
parameter of return on sales compared to the group of 
competitors will only be deemed to be 200% if the actual 
return on sales for Daimler’s automotive business reaches 
at least the strategic target for return on sales in the third 
year of the performance period. Otherwise, target 
achievement will be limited to 195%.

	 –	��T arget achievement of 0% occurs if Daimler’s return on 
sales is 2 percentage points or more lower. In the devia-
tion range of +/- 2 percentage points, target achievement 
varies in proportion to the deviation.

–	�� 50% relates to “relative share performance,” i.e. the perfor-
mance of Daimler’s share in a three-year comparison with 
the performance of the defined group of competitors (index). 
If the performance of Daimler’s share (in percent) is the 
same as that of the index (in percent), target achievement is 
deemed to be 100%. If the performance of Daimler’s share 
price (in percent) is 50 percentage points or more below 
(above) the performance of the index, target achievement is 
deemed to be 0% (200%). In the deviation range of +/- 50 
percentage points, target achievement varies in proportion 
to the deviation.

Range of possible target achievement
0 to 200%, that is, the plan has an upper limit. It may also be 
zero.

Policies for share ownership
As a supplement to these three components of remuneration, 
“Stock Ownership Policies” exist for the Board of Manage-
ment. These policies require the members of the Board of 
Management to purchase Daimler shares over several years 
and to hold those shares until the end of their Board of Man-
agement membership. The number of shares to be held is set 
between 20,000 and 75,000. In fulfillment of the policies, up 
to 25% of the gross remuneration out of each Performance 
Phantom Share Plan is generally to be used to acquire ordinary 
shares in the Company, but the required shares can also be 
acquired in other ways.

Value of the phantom shares on payout
During the four-year period between the allocation of the pre-
liminary phantom shares and the payout of the plan proceeds, 
the phantom shares earn a dividend equivalent in the amount 
of the actual dividend paid on ordinary Daimler shares.

The value of the phantom shares to be paid out after the con-
clusion of the plan period depends on target achievement mea-
sured according to the criteria described below and on the 
share price relevant for the payout. This share price is limited 
to 2.5 times the share price at the beginning of the plan. In 
addition, the amount to be paid out is limited to 2.5 times the 
absolute euro amount specified at the beginning of the plan, 
which is relevant for the preliminary number of phantom 
shares allocated. This maximum amount also includes the divi-
dend equivalent paid out during the four-year plan period.

The value of the phantom shares to be paid out depends on 
target achievement measured according to the criteria 
described below and on the share price relevant for the pay-
out. This final amount paid is limited to 2.5 times the value 
when granted at the beginning of the plan. This maximum 
amount also includes the dividend equivalent paid out during 
the four-year plan period.

The terms governing the PPSP include a provision that allows 
for the partial reduction or complete elimination of the annual 
bonus for any member of the Board of Management who 
clearly violates the principles laid down in the Company’s 
Integrity Code or any other professional obligations, prior to 
the payout of the plan proceeds. The Supervisory Board has 
the final decision on all such bonus reductions.
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100
125
150
175
200

75
50
25

0

B.50
Annual bonus
(short- and medium-term variable remuneration of the 
Board of Management members active at year-end)

Maximum
200% of 
the base 
salary

Maximum
10 % of 
the base 
salary

Maximum
25 % of 
the base 
salaryACTUAL

44%

ACTUAL
200%

ACTUAL
6%

ACTUAL
20%

Maximum
200% of 
the base 
salary

ACTUAL
financial
targets
122%

Actual 
total target 
achieve-
ment 
148%

50%
EBIT

50%
FCF IB

Non-
financial 
targets

Trans-
formation 
targets �

B.51

Grant value�(from 
which is derived 
the preliminary 
number of phantom 
shares with the 
share price�at 
beginning of plan 
€67.34)

Performance factor 
0% - 200%�(from 
which is derived 
the final number of 
phantom shares 
with the share price 
at beginning of plan)

Development of 
Daimler share price 
from beginning 
until end of plan, 
maximum 2.5 times 
the issue price�
(share price in €)

Overall target 
achievement 
final number of�
phantom shares �
times share price �
at end of plan�
€46.12)�

100%

200%

75%

250%

68%

1  Amount paid out including dividend-equivalent payments of PPSP 2016.

51%

theoretically 500% 
of the grant value

Maximum

Maximum

Maximum

ACTUAL

With more than 250% target 
achievement, the total cap¹ applies.

ACTUALACTUAL
ACTUAL

PPSP 2016 (paid in 2020) 
(long-term variable remuneration  B.55)

200
250
300
350
400
450

150
100

50
0

500

Board of Management remuneration in financial 
year 2020

Board of Management remuneration in 2020 pursuant to 
Section 314 Subsection 1 No. 6 of the German Commercial 
Code (HGB)
The total remuneration granted by Group companies (excluding 
retirement benefit commitments) to the members of the Board 
of Management of Daimler AG is calculated as the total of the 
amounts of
–	�� the base salary in 2020,
–	�� the half of the annual bonus for 2020 payable in 2021 and 

measured as of the end of the reporting period,
–	�� the half of the medium-term share-based component of the 

annual bonus for 2020 payable in 2022 with its value at the 
end of the reporting period (entitlement depending on the 
development of Daimler’s share price compared with the 
STOXX Europe Auto Index),

–	�� the value of the long-term share-based remuneration (PPSP) 
at the time when granted in 2020, and

–	�� the taxable non-cash benefits in 2020.

For both of the share-based components — the second 50% of 
the annual bonus and the PPSP with a long-term orientation — 
the amounts actually paid out can deviate significantly from 
the values described depending on the development of the 
Daimler share price and on the achievement of the relevant 
target parameters. Upward deviation is possible only as far as 
the maximum limits described above. Both components can 
also be zero.

The possible upper limits with regard to the annual bonus and 
the PPSP are shown in tables  B.50 and  B.51

Taking into account the voluntary agreement on the part of the 
Board of Management to forgo 20% of their base salary from 
April 1 to December 31, the total remuneration of the Board of 
Management for financial year 2020 amounts to €28.1 million 
(2019: €24.2 million). Of that total, €7.8 million was fixed, that 
is, non-performance-related remuneration (2019: €8.9 million), 
€11.1 million (2019: €2.0 million) was short-term and medium-
term variable performance-related remuneration (annual 
bonus with deferral), and €9.2 million was variable perfor-
mance-related remuneration granted in the financial year with 
a long-term incentive effect (2019: €13.3 million).  B.52

The granting of non-cash benefits in kind, primarily expenses 
for security precautions and the provision of company cars, 
resulted in taxable benefits for the members of the Board of 
Management in 2020 as shown in table  B.53.
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B.52
Board of Management remuneration in 2020

Base salary1 Short and medium-term variable 
remuneration (annual bonus)

Long-term  
variable remuneration (PPSP)

Total

Short-term Medium-term  Number Value when 
granted  

(2020: at share price 
€42.73) 

(2019: at share price 
€50.00)

In thousands of euros

Ola Källenius2 2020 
2019

1,415 
1,340

1,232 
168

1,232 
168

47,702 
36,982

2,038 
1,849

5,917 
3,525

Martin Daum 2020 
2019

707 
832

616 
104

616 
104

23,851 
22,169

1,019 
1,108

2,958 
2,148

Renata Jungo Brüngger 2020 
2019

707 
832

616 
104

616 
104

23,851 
22,169

1,019 
1,108

2,958 
2,148

Wilfried Porth 2020 
2019

707 
832

616 
104

616 
104

24,935 
23,177

1,065 
1,159

3,004 
2,199

Markus Schäfer3 2020 
2019

707 
508

616 
64

616 
64

23,851 
17,735

1,019 
887

2,958 
1,523

Britta Seeger 2020 
2019

707 
832

616 
104

616 
104

23,851 
22,169

1,019 
1,108

2,958 
2,148

Hubertus Troska 2020 
2019

707 
832

616 
104

616 
104

23,851 
22,169

1,019 
1,108

2,958 
2,148

Harald Wilhelm4 2020 
2019

723 
638

629 
80

629 
80

23,851 
16,627

1,019 
831

3,000 
1,629

Bodo Uebber5 2020 
2019

‒ 
379

– 
47

– 
47

– 
26,502

– 
1,325

– 
1,798

Dr. Dieter Zetsche5 2020 
2019

– 
804

– 
101

– 
101

– 
56,429

– 
2,822

– 
3,828

Total 2020 
2019

6,380 
7,829

5,557 
980

5,557 
980

215,743 
266,128

9,217 
13,305

26,711 
23,094

1	T aking into account the voluntary agreement on the part of the Board of Management to forgo 20% of their base salary from April 1 to December 31, 2020.
2	� 2019: Board of Management remuneration paid as a member until May 21, 2019; as the Chairman from May 22, 2019.
3	 2019: �Board of Management remuneration paid from May 22, 2019.
4	� 2019: Board of Management remuneration paid from April 1, 2019.
5	 2019: �Board of Management remuneration paid until May 22, 2019.

B.53 
Taxable non-cash benefits and other fringe benefits

2020 2019
In thousands of euros

Ola Källenius1 72 90
Martin Daum 115 120
Renata Jungo Brüngger 96 95
Wilfried Porth 88 87
Markus Schäfer2 96 57
Britta Seeger 86 94
Hubertus Troska3 748 394
Harald Wilhelm4 77 62
Bodo Uebber5 ‒ 44
Dr. Dieter Zetsche5 ‒ 65

Total 1,378 1,108
1	� 2019: Board of Management remuneration paid as a member until May 21, 

2019; as the Chairman from May 22, 2019.
2	 2019: Board of Management remuneration paid from May 22, 2019.
3	H ubertus Troska’s foreign assignment caused deferred taxable benefits of 

€366,300 for the previous years. For the fulfillment of disclosure obliga-
tions pursuant to Section 285 No. 9a of the German Commercial Code 
(HGB), the total amount is reduced by €153,814 for the financial year 2020 
(2019: €149,366). The corresponding fringe benefits were granted and 
borne by a subsidiary and are thus not included in the remuneration to be 
disclosed in the annual financial statements of the parent company, 
Daimler AG.

4	 2019: Board of Management remuneration paid from April 1, 2019.
5	 2019: Board of Management remuneration paid until May 22, 2019.
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The caps possible to ensure the total maximum amount shown 
in the table of benefits granted for financial year 2019 are 
implemented with the payout of PPSP 2019, which constitutes 
the last payment to be made of the components of remunera-
tion granted in financial year 2019. For financial year 2019, 
therefore, the possible cap would take place in 2023, the year 
that PPSP 2019 is paid out.

The total of “payments made” for financial year 2020 is calcu-
lated from
–	� the base salary in 2020,
–	� the taxable non-cash benefits and other fringe benefits in 

2020,
–	� the half of the annual bonus payable in 2021 for 2020 at the 

value as of the end of the reporting period,
–	� the half of the medium-term annual bonus paid in 2020 for 

2018 (deferral),
–	� the value of the long-term share-based remuneration (PPSP 

2016) paid in 2020,
–	� the dividend equivalent of the current PPSP (2017, 2018, 

2019 and 2020) paid in 2020, and
–	� the retirement pension expense in 2020 (service costs in 

2020).

The caps possible to ensure the total maximum amount shown 
in the table of benefits granted for reporting year 2020 are 
implemented with the payout of PPSP 2020, Which constitutes 
the last payment to be made of the components of remunera-
tion granted in financial year 2020. For financial year 2020, 
therefore, the possible cap would take place in 2024, the year 
that PPSP 2020 is paid out.

Further details of Board of Management remuneration  
in 2020 
The following tables show for each individual member of the 
Board of Management on the one hand the benefits granted for 
the financial year and on the other hand the payments made in 
or for the reporting year and the retirement pension expense in 
or for the reporting year in comparison with the prior year. The 
tables are based on the previous recommendations of Clause 
4.2.5 paragraph 3 of the German Corporate Governance Code 
as amended on February 7, 2017.

The total of “benefits granted” for financial year 2019 is calcu-
lated from
–	�� the base salary in 2019,
–	�� the taxable non-cash benefits and other fringe benefits in 

2019,
–	�� the half of the annual bonus paid in 2020 for 2019 at the 

value for target achievement of 100%,
–	�� the half of the medium-term annual bonus payable in 2021 

for 2019 at the value for target achievement of 100% (defer-
ral),

–	�� the value of the long-term share-based remuneration (PPSP) 
at the time when granted in 2019 (payable in 2023), and

–	�� the retirement pension expense in 2019 (service costs in 
2019).

The total of “benefits granted” for financial year 2020 is calcu-
lated from
–	�� the base salary in 2020,
–	�� the taxable non-cash benefits and other fringe benefits in 

2020,
–	�� the half of the annual bonus payable in 2021 for 2020 at the 

value for target achievement of 100%,
–	�� the half of the medium-term annual bonus payable in 2022 

for 2020 at the value for target achievement of 100% (defer-
ral),

–	�� the value of the long-term share-based remuneration (PPSP) 
at the time when granted in 2020 (payable in 2024), and

–	�� the retirement pension expense in 2020 (service costs in 
2020).

The total of “payments made” for financial year 2019 is calcu-
lated from
–	� the base salary in 2019,
–	� the taxable non-cash benefits and other fringe benefits in 

2019,
–	� the half of the annual bonus paid in 2020 for 2019 at the 

value as of the end of the reporting period in financial year 
2019,

–	� the half of the medium-term annual bonus paid in 2019 for 
2017 (deferral),

–	� the value of the long-term share-based remuneration (PPSP 
2015) paid in 2019,

–	� the dividend equivalent of the current PPSP (2016, 2017, 
2018 and 2019) paid in 2019, and

–	� the retirement pension expense in 2019 (service costs in 
2019).
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B.54
Benefits granted

Ola Källenius3 
Chairman of the Board of Management of Daimler AG/

Mercedes-Benz Cars & Vans
Martin Daum 

Daimler Trucks & Buses
Jan. 1 – Dec. 31  Jan. 1 – Dec. 31 Jan. 1 – Dec. 31 Jan. 1 – Dec. 31

2019 2020 min max 2019 2020 min max
In thousands of euros

Base salary1 1,340 1,415 1,415 1,415 832 707 707 707
Taxable non-cash benefits  
and other fringe benefits 90 72 72 72 120 115 115 115
Total 1,430 1,487 1,487 1,487 952 822 822 822
Annual variable remuneration  
(50% of annual bonus, short-term) 670 832 0 1,664 416 416 0 832
Deferral (50% of annual bonus,  
medium-term) 670 832 0 1,664 416 416 0 832
Long-term variable remuneration  
(plan period of 4 years) 1,849 2,038 0 5,500 1,108 1,019 0 2,750
Total 3,189 3,702 0 8,828 1,940 1,851 0 4,414
Retirement pension expense (service costs) 261 520 520 520 250 250 250 250

Total remuneration 4,880 5,709 2,007 10,835 3,142 2,923 1,072 5,486
Total limit2 for components of remuneration  
granted in the reporting year excluding:
– �Taxable non-cash benefits and other fringe benefits
– Retirement pension expense (service costs)

7,878 9,399 5,252 5,252

Maximum total remuneration pursuant to Section 87a Subsection 1  
Sentence 2 No. 1 German Stock Corporation Act (AktG) 12,000 7,200
1	�T aking into account the voluntary agreement on the part of the Board of Management to forgo 20% of their base salary from April 1 to December 31, 2020.
2	�T otal limit = maximum amount of remuneration (cash flow cap)  1.7 times for Ola Källenius (2019: 1.5 times for Dr. Dieter Zetsche) / 1.9 times target remu-

neration (base salary, target annual bonus, value when granted of PPSP, excluding fringe benefits and retirement pension commitments).
3	� 2019: Board of Management remuneration paid as a member until May 21, 2019; as the Chairman from May 22, 2019.

Benefits granted 

Renata Jungo Brüngger 
Integrity & Legal Affairs

Wilfried Porth 
HR and Labor Relations Director 

Jan. 1 – Dec. 31  Jan. 1 – Dec. 31 Jan. 1 – Dec. 31 Jan. 1 – Dec. 31
2019 2020 min max 2019 2020 min max

In thousands of euros

Base salary1 832 707 707 707 832 707 707 707
Taxable non-cash benefits  
and other fringe benefits 95 96 96 96 87 88 88 88
Total 927 803 803 803 919 795 795 795
Annual variable remuneration  
(50% of annual bonus, short-term) 416 416 0 832 416 416 0 832
Deferral (50% of annual bonus,  
medium-term) 416 416 0 832 416 416 0 832
Long-term variable remuneration  
(plan period of 4 years) 1,108 1,019 0 2,750 1,159 1,065 0 2,875
Total 1,940 1,851 0 4,414 1,991 1,897 0 4,539
Retirement pension expense (service costs) 254 252 252 252 0 0 0 0

Total remuneration 3,121 2,906 1,055 5,469 2,910 2,692 795 5,334
Total limit2 for components of remuneration  
granted in the reporting year excluding:
– �Taxable non-cash benefits and other fringe benefits
– Retirement pension expense (service costs)

5,252 5,252 5,347 5,347

Maximum total remuneration pursuant to Section 87a Subsection 1  
Sentence 2 No. 1 German Stock Corporation Act (AktG) 7,200 7,200
1	�T aking into account the voluntary agreement of the Board of Management to forgo 20% of the base salary from April 1 to December 31, 2020.
2	�T otal limit = maximum amount of remuneration (cash flow cap)  1.7 times for Ola Källenius (2019: 1.5 times for Dr. Dieter Zetsche) / 1.9 times target remu-

neration (base salary, target annual bonus, value when granted of PPSP, excluding fringe benefits and retirement pension commitments).
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Dear Shareholders,

As Chairman of the Audit Committee, I am very pleased to 
report to you on the tasks and activities performed by that 
body in financial year 2020.

Responsibility
On the basis of applicable law, the German Corporate Gover-
nance Code and the Rules of Procedure of the Supervisory 
Board and its committees, the Audit Committee deals primarily 
with questions of accounting, financial reporting and non-
financial reporting. In addition, it deals with the annual audit 
and reviews the qualifications and independence of the exter-
nal auditors. Furthermore, it discusses the effectiveness and 
functional capabilities of the risk management system, the 
internal control system, the internal auditing system and the 
compliance management system. After the external auditors 
are elected by the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting, the Audit 
Committee engages the external auditors to conduct the 
annual audit and the auditors’ review of interim financial state-
ments. Furthermore, the Audit Committee determines the 
important audit issues and negotiates the audit fees with the 
external auditors. The Audit Committee also commissions the 
external auditors to carry out a voluntary examination of the 
non-financial report within the framework of a limited assur-
ance engagement and to audit the non-financial declaration as 
part of the Management Report.

Equal representation
Audit Committee Chairman Dr. Clemens Börsig and Joe Kaeser 
served as the shareholder representatives on the Audit Com-
mittee in financial year 2020. Both are independent and have 
expertise in the field of financial reporting, as well as special 
knowledge of and experience in the auditing of financial state-
ments and the application of methods of internal control. Dur-
ing financial year 2020, the employees were represented on 
the Audit Committee by Michael Brecht as the Deputy Chair-
man of the Committee and by Ergun Lümali.

Meetings and participants
The Audit Committee met six times in financial year 2020. All 
of these meetings were also attended by the Chairman of the 
Supervisory Board, Dr. Manfred Bischoff, as a permanent 
guest. The other permanent participants in the meetings were 
the Chairman of the Board of Management, the members of 
the Board of Management responsible for Finance and Control-
ling and for Integrity and Legal Affairs, and the external audi-
tors. The heads of specialist departments such as Accounting, 
Internal Auditing, Compliance and Legal were also present to 
report on individual items of the agenda.

In addition, the Chairman of the Audit Committee held regular 
individual discussions, for example with the aforementioned 
members of the Board of Management, the external auditors, 
the Head of Internal Auditing, the Head of Compliance, the 
Head of Legal Affairs and, if required, the heads of other spe-
cialist departments. Such individual discussions were mainly 
held to prepare for the next committee meetings.

Reporting to the Supervisory Board
The Chairman of the Audit Committee informed the Supervi-
sory Board about the activities of the Committee and about the 
contents of its meetings and discussions in the following 
Supervisory Board meetings.

Topics in 2020
In the meeting held on February 10, 2020, the Audit Committee 
dealt with the preliminary figures of the annual financial state-
ments and the annual consolidated financial statements for the 
year 2019, as well as with the proposal on the appropriation of 
profits made by the Board of Management. Following an in-
depth review, the Audit Committee took positive note of the 
presented figures and determined that no objections were to 
be made to their proposed publication. The Committee further 
recommended that the Supervisory Board, which met immedi-
ately thereafter, adopt the same view. The preliminary key fig-
ures and the proposal on the appropriation of profits were 
announced at the Annual Press Conference on February 11, 
2020.

In another meeting held on February 19, 2020, the Audit Com-
mittee dealt with the annual financial statements, the consoli-
dated financial statements and the combined management 
report for Daimler AG and the Daimler Group for the financial 
year 2019, each of which had been issued with an unqualified 
auditor’s opinion by the external auditors, as well as with the 
proposal on the appropriation of profits. During the meeting, 
the Audit Committee focused in particular on the key audit 
matters described in each audit opinion and on the audit 
approach applied in each case, including the conclusions 
drawn. The Audit Committee also reviewed and discussed the 
non-financial report, for which an auditor’s report was issued 
in accordance with ISAE 3000. The external auditors reported 
on the results of their audit and the voluntary review of the 
non-financial report within the framework of a limited assur-
ance engagement, and were also available to answer supple-
mentary questions and to provide additional information. The 
audit reports on the annual company and consolidated finan-
cial statements (including the combined management report) 
and the internal control system, the report concerning the 
non-financial report, and important issues related to account-
ing were discussed with the external auditors. In addition, the 
Audit Committee also discussed the risk management system. 
Following an in-depth review and discussion, the Audit Com-
mittee recommended that the Supervisory Board approve the 

Report of the Audit Committee
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financial statements, the combined management report, the 
declaration on corporate governance included in the corporate 
governance report, the non-financial report, and the Board of 
Management’s proposal on the appropriation of profits, which 
involved the payment of a dividend of €0.90 per share entitled 
to a dividend. Furthermore, the Audit Committee approved the 
Report of the Audit Committee for financial year 2019.

In this meeting, the Audit Committee also discussed the report 
on the total fees paid to the external auditors in financial year 
2019 for auditing and non-auditing services and defined the 
framework of approval for engaging the external auditors to 
provide non-audit services during the period January 1, 2020 to 
February 15, 2021. The Audit Committee also decided to rec-
ommend to the Supervisory Board, and subsequently to the 
Annual Shareholders’ Meeting, that KPMG AG Wirtschaftsprü-
fungsgesellschaft be engaged to conduct the annual external 
audit, the audit of the consolidated financial statements and 
the external auditors’ review of interim financial reports for 
financial year 2020 and also to conduct the external auditors’ 
review of interim financial reports for financial year 2021 in the 
period leading up to the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting in 2021. 
The Audit Committee based this recommendation on the qual-
ity of the annual audit and the results of the independence 
review, for which no indications of partiality or a threat to inde-
pendence were found. Moreover, the Audit Committee decided 
to propose to the Supervisory Board that it have the contents 
of the non-financial report for 2020 voluntarily reviewed again 
(with limited assurance). Subject to the election of the pro-
posed external auditors by the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting, 
the Audit Committee also discussed the proposal to be made 
regarding the fees to be agreed upon with the external auditors 
for financial year 2020. Finally, the Audit Committee dealt with 
the annual audit plan for 2020 of the Internal Auditing depart-
ment and, within the framework of its responsibility, with the 
agenda for the 2020 Annual Shareholders’ Meeting, which at 
this point was still scheduled to take place on April 1, 2020.

In the meetings during 2020 related to the quarterly results, 
the Audit Committee discussed the interim financial reports 
and the results of the auditors’ review before their publication 
with the Board of Management and with the external auditors. 
In addition, the Committee received reports from the Internal 
Auditing, Compliance and Legal departments. The Board of 
Management reported regularly to the Audit Committee on the 
current status of the main legal proceedings, including anti-
trust proceedings as well as inquiries, investigations, proceed-
ings and administrative orders in connection with diesel emis-
sions. In addition, the Audit Committee regularly dealt with 
notifications concerning possible violations of rules submitted 
by employees and third parties to the Group’s own BPO (Busi-
ness Practices Office) whistleblower system.

The meeting of the Audit Committee in April 2020 dealt with 
the interim financial report for the first quarter of 2020, focus-
ing intensively on the fiscal impact of the covid-19 pandemic. 
Moreover, the Audit Committee received reports from the 
Internal Auditing, Compliance and Legal departments, which 
also addressed the effects of the covid-19 pandemic. Another 
item on the agenda was the agreement on the external auditor 
fees for financial year 2020.

In its meeting in June 2020, the Audit Committee discussed 
aspects of the Group’s risk management system and dealt in 
particular with its changes and further development. It also 
discussed the methods and processes of, and changes to, the 
internal control system. In this meeting, the Committee also 
addressed the agreement on the external auditor fees and dis-
cussed planning measures for the annual external audit and 
the key audit issues for financial year 2020. In addition, the 
Audit Committee extensively investigated current accounting 
issues. These included the regulatory statements concerning 
SARS-CoV-2 that were of key importance for the company as 
well as the methodology for evaluating the existing fleet of 
leased vehicles. The meeting was also used to discuss the 
results of the internal quality analysis of the external audit for 
financial year 2019. Lastly, the Audit Committee learned about 
liquidity management within the Group and the sub-groups and 
the methodological approach used to hedge against raw mate-
rial and currency risks. In conclusion, the Committee took note 
of a report about current tax-related issues.

In the meeting held in July 2020, the Audit Committee dealt 
with the results of the second quarter of 2020. In doing so, it 
also addressed the financial implications of the covid-19 pan-
demic. As part of its risk reporting activities, the Audit Com-
mittee mainly addressed legal proceedings as well as sales and 
production-related risks. In addition, the Committee received 
quarterly reports from the Compliance, Internal Auditing and 
Legal departments. Finally, the Audit Committee discussed 
with the Board of Management the annual report produced by 
the Group’s Data Protection Officer.

In October 2020, the Committee dealt with the interim finan-
cial report for the third quarter of 2020. In addition, the Com-
mittee expanded the range of key audit issues for the external 
auditors and conducted its annual review of the authorized 
non-audit services provided by the external auditors. It also 
decided to adjust the current catalog of authorized non-audit 
services. Due to the Board of Management’s decision to inte-
grate the former non-financial report into the combined man-
agement report as the non-financial declaration, the Audit 
Committee resolved to recommend to the Supervisory Board 
that the audit of the consolidated financial statements and the 
combined management report by the external auditors should 
be correspondingly expanded. In response to the current pub-
lic debate concerning escrow accounts, the Audit Committee 
obtained in-depth reports about the management of the bank 
and escrow accounts within the Daimler Group. In addition, the 
Committee received quarterly reports from the Compliance 
and Legal departments. Moreover, it obtained reports about 
the work and structure of the Post Settlement Audit Team 
(PSAT), which is located in the Internal Auditing department. 
The PSAT was set up during the reporting year on the basis of a 
settlement with the US regulatory authorities in connection 
with emission control systems. The team monitors the compa-
ny’s fulfillment of the settlement and, within a specified scope, 
its compliance with environmental regulations.
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Company and consolidated financial statements 2020
In the meeting held on February 17, 2021, the Audit Committee 
reviewed and discussed in detail the annual financial state-
ments, the consolidated financial statements and the com-
bined management report including the non-financial declara-
tion for Daimler AG and the Daimler Group for financial year 
2020, each of which had been issued with an unqualified audi-
tor’s opinion by the external auditors, as well as the declara-
tion on corporate governance and the proposal on the appro-
priation of profits. At the meeting, the external auditors 
reported on the results of their audit and focused in particular 
on the key audit matters and the audit approach applied in 
each case, including the conclusions drawn. They were also 
available to answer supplementary questions and to provide 
additional information. The audit reports on the annual finan-
cial statements and consolidated financial statements (includ-
ing the key audit matters in the audit opinions) and on the 
internal control system and important issues related to finan-
cial reporting were discussed with the external auditors. In 
addition, the Audit Committee also discussed the risk manage-
ment system. Following an in-depth review and discussion, the 
Audit Committee recommended that the Supervisory Board 
approve the financial statements, the combined management 
report including the non-financial declaration, the declaration 
on corporate governance and the recommendation of the 
Board of Management to pay a dividend of €1.35 per share 
entitled to a dividend. The Audit Committee also reviewed the 
independence of the external auditors (including the non-audit 
fee cap) for the financial year 2020. Furthermore, the Audit 
Committee approved the Report of the Audit Committee for 
financial year 2020.

Self-evaluation
In 2020, the Audit Committee conducted a self-evaluation of 
its own activities on the basis of an extensive company-spe-
cific questionnaire. The results of this self-assessment were 
once again very positive and were presented and discussed in 
the meeting on February 17, 2021. This did not result in any 
need for action with regard to the Committee’s tasks, the con-
tent, or the procedure of its meetings.

Stuttgart, February 2021 

The Audit Committee

 
Dr. Clemens Börsig 
Chairman
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Declaration by the Board of Management and 
the Supervisory Board of Daimler AG pursuant 
to Section 161 of the German Stock Corporation 
Act (AktG) regarding the German Corporate 
Governance Code

Since the issuance of the last compliance declaration in 
December 2019, Daimler AG has satisfied all recommendations 
of the German Corporate Governance Code published in the 
official section of the German Federal Gazette on April 24, 
2017 in the Code version dated February 7, 2017 (“Code 
2017”), with the exception of Clause 3.8 Paragraph 3 (D&O 
insurance deductible for the Supervisory Board) and Clause 
5.4.5 Paragraph 1 Sentence 2 (maximum number of supervi-
sory board memberships for members of the management 
board of a listed corporation). 

D&O insurance deductible for the Supervisory Board 
(Clause 3.8, Paragraph 3, Corporate Governance Code, 
2017). The Directors’ & Officers’ insurance contains no provi-
sion for a deductible for the members of the Supervisory Board 
that corresponds to the legally required deductible for mem-
bers of the Board of Management. Given the function-related 
fixed remuneration without performance bonus components, 
setting such a deductible for Supervisory Board members 
would not increase the motivation and sense of responsibility 
with which its members perform their tasks.

This recommendation is no longer contained in the German 
Corporate Governance Code in the version dated December 

16, 2019.

Declaration on Corporate Governance
Good corporate governance is a precondition for and reflection of the responsible management of 
a company. The Board of Management and the Supervisory Board aim to align the Group’s manage-
ment and supervision with nationally and internationally recognized standards in order to safeguard 
sustainable value creation over the long term. With the discontinuation of the Corporate Gover-
nance Report as stipulated in the new German Corporate Governance Code in the version dated 
December 16, 2019, the Declaration on Corporate Governance has, in accordance with Sections 
289 f, 315 d of the German Commercial Code (HGB), become the central instrument for corporate 
governance reporting. The Board of Management and the Supervisory Board jointly issue the Dec-
laration on Corporate Governance and are responsible for the sections of the report that pertain to 
them. The Declaration on Corporate Governance has been combined for Daimler AG and the 
Daimler Group. The following statements thus apply equally to Daimler AG and the Group insofar as 
not otherwise stated. Pursuant to Section 317 Subsection 2 Sentence 6 of the German Commercial 
Code (HGB), the purpose of the audit of the statements pursuant to Section 289f Subsections 2 
and 5 and Section 315d of the HGB is limited to determining whether such statements have actu-
ally been provided. The Declaration on Corporate Governance can also be viewed on the Internet 
at w daimler.com/corpgov/en.

Maximum number of supervisory board memberships for 
members of the management board of a listed corporation 
(Clause 5.4.5 Paragraph 1 Sentence 2, Corporate Gover-
nance Code, 2017). In accordance with this recommendation, 
members of the management board of a listed corporation 
shall not accept more than a total of three supervisory board 
memberships in non-group listed corporations or on supervi-
sory bodies of non-group entities that make similar require-
ments. 

A parallel recommendation with even stricter requirements can 
be found in Clause 5 of the German Corporate Governance 
Code in the version dated December 16, 2019.

Daimler AG satisfies the recommendations of the German Cor-
porate Governance Code published in the official section of the 
German Federal Gazette on March 20, 2020, in the Code ver-
sion dated December 16, 2019 (“Code 2019”), with the excep-
tion of the recommendations contained in C. 4 and C. 5 (maxi-
mum number of supervisory board memberships), and will 
continue to observe the recommendations with the aforesaid 
deviations. 

https://www.daimler.com/corpgov/en/


https://www.daimler.com/corpgov/en/
https://www.daimler.com/dai/caag/


https://www.daimler.com/sus/obr/


https://www.daimler.com/dai/bom/
https://www.daimler.com/dai/rop/


https://www.daimler.com/dai/sb/
https://www.daimler.com/dai/sb/
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https://www.daimler.com/investors/
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Employee share purchase plan 
In the first quarter of 2020, as in the previous year pursuant to 
Section 71 Subsection 1 No. 2, of the German Stock Corporation 
Act (AktG) without utilizing the authorization to acquire trea-
sury shares granted by the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting on 
April 1, 2015, 1.1 million Daimler shares representing €3.0 mil-
lion or 0.10% of the share capital were purchased for a price of 
€30 million and reissued to employees (2019: 0.8 million Daimler 
shares representing €2.4 million or 0.08% of the share capital 
were purchased for a price of €42 million).

Capital reserves 
Capital reserves primarily comprise premiums arising on the 
issue of shares as well as expenses relating to the exercise of 
the up to 2014 exercisable stock option plans and the issue of 
employee shares, effects from changes in ownership interests 
in consolidated entities and directly attributable related trans-
action costs.

Retained earnings
Retained earnings comprise the accumulated net profits and 
losses of all companies included in Daimler’s Consolidated 
Financial Statements, less any profits distributed. In addition, 
the effects of remeasuring defined benefit plans as well as the 
related deferred taxes are presented within retained earnings.

Dividend
Under the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG), the dividend 
is paid out of the distributable profit reported in the annual 
financial statements of Daimler AG (parent company only) in 
accordance with the German Commercial Code (HGB). For the 
year ended December 31, 2020, the Daimler management will 
propose to the shareholders at the Annual Shareholders’ Meet-
ing to pay out €1,444 million of the distributable profit of 
Daimler AG as a dividend to the shareholders, equivalent to 
€1.35 per no-par-value share entitled to a dividend (2019: 
€963 million and €0.90 per no-par-value share entitled to a 
dividend respectively).

Other reserves
Other reserves comprise accumulated unrealized gains/losses 
from currency translation of the financial statements of the 
consolidated foreign companies and accumulated unrealized 
gains/losses on financial assets, derivative financial instru-
ments and equity-method investments.

Table  D.02 shows the details of changes in other reserves in 
other comprehensive income/loss.

21. Share-based payment

At December 31, 2020, the Group has the 2017-2020 Perfor-
mance Phantom Share Plans (PPSP) outstanding. The PPSP 
are cash-settled share-based payment instruments and are 
measured at their respective fair values at the balance sheet 
date. The PPSP are paid out at the end of the stipulated hold-
ing period; earlier, pro-rated payout is possible in the case of 
beneficiaries leaving the Group only if certain defined condi-
tions are met. PPSP 2016 was paid out as planned in the first 
quarter of 2020.

Moreover, 50% of the annual bonus of the members of the 
Board of Management is paid out after a waiting period of one 
year. The actual payout is determined by the development  
of Daimler shares compared to an automobile-related index 
(Auto-STOXX). The fair value of this medium-term annual 
bonus, which depends on that development, is measured by 
using the intrinsic value at the reporting date.

The pre-tax effects of share-based payment arrangements for 
the executives of the Group and the members of the Board of 
Management of Daimler AG on the Consolidated Statement of 
Income and Consolidated Statement of Financial Position are 
shown in table  D.50.

Table  D.51 shows expenses in the Consolidated Statement 
of Income resulting from the rights of current members of the  
Board of Management.

The details shown in table  D.51 do not represent any paid or 
committed remuneration, but refer to expenses calculated 
according to IFRS. Details of the remuneration of the members 
of the Board of Management in 2020 can be found in the 
Remuneration Report. E Combined Management Report 
with Non-Financial Statement

D.50
Effects of share-based payment

Provision
Expense At December 31,

2020 2019 2020 2019
In millions of euros

PPSP -107 -70 189 124
Medium-term 
component of annual 
bonus of the members 
of the Board 
of Management -6 -1 7 3

-113 -71 196 127
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Performance Phantom Share Plans 
In 2020, the Group adopted a Performance Phantom Share 
Plan (PPSP), similar to those used in previous years, under 
which eligible employees are granted phantom shares entitling 
them to receive cash payments after four years. During the 
four-year period between the allocation of the preliminary 
phantom shares and the payout of the plan at the end of the 
term, the phantom shares earn a dividend equivalent to the 
amount of the actual dividend paid on ordinary Daimler shares. 
The amount of cash paid to eligible employees at the end of 
the holding period is based on the number of vested phantom 
shares (determined over a three-year performance period) 
multiplied by the quoted price of Daimler’s ordinary shares 
(calculated as an average price over a specified period at the 
end of the four-year plan period). The vesting period is there-
fore four years. For the existing plans, the quoted price of 
Daimler’s ordinary shares to be used for the payout is limited 
to 2.5 times the Daimler share price at the date of grant. Fur-
thermore, the payout for the members of the Board of Manage-
ment is also limited to 2.5 times the allotment value used to 
determine the preliminary number of phantom shares. The limi-
tation of the payout for the members of the Board of Manage-
ment also includes the dividend equivalent.

The number of phantom shares that vest of the PPSPs granted 
in 2015 to 2020 is based on the relative share performance, 
which measures the development of the price of a share-price 
index based on a competitor group including Daimler, and the 
return on sales (RoS) compared with the average RoS of a 
competitor group. In addition, beginning with plan PPSP 2018, 
the average RoS of the competitor group is revenue-weighted.

Special rules apply for the members of the Board of Manage-
ment: Daimler’s RoS must be not equal to but higher than that 
of the competitors in order to achieve the same target achieve-
ment as the other plan participants. For the PPSP granted in 
2015 to 2020, an additional limit on target achievement was 
agreed upon for the reference parameter RoS for the members 
of the Board of Management. In the case of target achievement 
between 195% and 200%, an additional comparison is made on 
the basis of the RoS achieved in absolute terms. If the actual 
RoS for the automotive business is below the strategic target 
(currently 9%) in the third year of the performance period, tar-
get achievement is limited to 195%.

The Group recognizes a provision for awarding the PPSP in the 
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position. Since payment 
per vested phantom share depends on the quoted price of 
Daimler’s ordinary shares, that quoted price essentially repre-
sents the fair value of each phantom share. The proportionate 
remuneration expenses from the PPSP recognized in the indi-
vidual years are measured based on the price of Daimler ordi-
nary shares and the estimated target achievement.

D.51
Expenses in the Consolidated Statement of Income resulting from share-based payments of current members of the Board of Management

Ola Källenius Martin Daum Renata Jungo Brüngger
2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019

In millions of euros

PPSP -1.5 -1.0 -0.9 -0.6 -0.9 -0.8
Medium-term component of the annual bonus -1.3 -0.1 -0.6 -0.1 -0.6 -0.1

Wilfried Porth Markus Schäfer¹ Britta Seeger
2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019

In millions of euros

PPSP -0.9 -0.8 -0.7 -0.4 -0.9 -0.6
Medium-term component of the annual bonus -0.6 -0.1 -0.6 -0.1 -0.6 -0.1

Hubertus Troska Harald Wilhelm² Dr. Dieter Zetsche³
2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019

In millions of euros

PPSP -0.9 -0.8 -0.6 -0.2 - -4.4
Medium-term component of the annual bonus -0.6 -0.1 -0.6 -0.1 - -0.1

Bodo Uebber³
2020 2019

In millions of euros

PPSP - -2.1
Medium-term component of the annual bonus - -
1	 Appointed to the Board of Management as of May 22, 2019.
2	 Appointed to the Board of Management as of April 1, 2019.
3	 Appointment to the Board of Management ended on May 22, 2019, service contract benefits continued until the respective service contract expired on 

December 31, 2019. Expense in 2019 also includes the complete vesting of rights granted from 2017 to 2019.
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22. Pensions and similar obligations

Table  D.52 shows the composition of provisions for pension 
benefit plans and similar obligations.

At the Daimler Group, defined benefit pension obligations exist 
as well as, to a smaller extent, defined contribution pension 
obligations, specific to the various countries. In addition, 
healthcare benefit obligations are recognized outside Germany.

Defined benefit pension plans

Provisions for pension obligations are made for defined com-
mitments to active and former employees of the Daimler Group 
and their survivors. The defined benefit pension plans provided 
by Daimler generally vary according to the economic, tax and 
legal circumstances of the country concerned. Most of the 
defined benefit pension plans also provide benefits in the case 
of invalidity and death.

The Group’s main German and non-German pension plans are 
described below.

German pension plans and pension plan assets 
Most employees in Germany have defined benefit pension 
plans; most of the pension plans for the active workforce are 
based on individual retirement benefit accounts, to which the 
Company makes annual contributions. The amount of the con-
tributions for employees paid according to wage-tariff agree-
ments depends on the tariff classification in the respective 
year or on their respective income, and for executives it 
depends on their respective income. For the commitments to 
retirement benefits made until 2011, the contributions con-
tinue to be converted into capital components and credited to 
the individual pension accounts with the application of fixed 
factors related to each employee’s age. The conversion factors 
include a fixed value increase. For the commitments to retire-
ment benefits made as of 2011, the Company guarantees at a 
minimum the value of the contributions paid into a cash-bal-
ance plan. Pension payments are made either as a life annuity, 
twelve annual installments, or a single lump sum.

In addition, previously concluded defined benefit plans exist 
which primarily depend on employees’ wage-tariff classifica-
tion upon transition into the benefit phase and which foresee a 
life annuity.

As well as the employer-financed pension plans granted by 
German companies, the employees of some companies are 
also offered various earnings-conversion models.

Most of the pension obligations in Germany relating to defined 
benefit pension plans are funded by investment funds. Con-
tractual trust arrangements (CTA) exist between Daimler AG as 
well as some subsidiaries in Germany and the Daimler Pension 
Trust e.V. The Daimler Pension Trust e.V. acts as a collateral 
trust fund.

In 2018, Daimler AG transferred certain defined benefit obliga-
tions and plan assets of retired employees to Daimler Pen-
sionsfonds AG (pension fund). These benefits will be adminis-
trated by that non-insurance-like pension fund, which falls 
under the scope of the Act on the Supervision of Insurance 
Undertakings and is therefore subject to the oversight of the 
Federal Financial Supervisory Agency (BaFin). Insofar as in the 
future, BaFin rules that a deficit has occurred in the pension 
fund, a supplementary contribution will be required from 
Daimler AG.

In Germany, there are normally no statutory or regulatory mini-
mum funding requirements.

Non-German pension plans and pension plan assets 
Significant plans exist primarily in the United States and Japan. 
They comprise plans relating to final salaries as well as plans 
relating to salary-based components. Most of the obligations 
outside Germany from defined benefit pension plans are 
funded by investment funds.

Risks from defined benefit pension plans and pension plan 
assets 
The general requirements with regard to retirement benefit 
models are included in guidelines with Group-wide validity. 
Accordingly, the committed benefits are intended to contribute 
to additional financial security during retirement, and in the 
case of death or invalidity to be capable of being planned and 
fulfilled by the respective company of the Group and to have a 
low-risk structure. In addition, a committee exists that approves 
new pension plans and amendments to existing pension plans 
as well as guidelines relating to company retirement benefits.

The obligations from defined benefit pension plans and the 
pension plan assets can be subject to fluctuations over time. 
This can cause the funded status to be negatively or positively 
impacted. Fluctuations in the defined benefit pension obliga-
tions result at the Daimler Group in particular from changes  
in financial assumptions such as discount rates and increases 
in the cost of living, but also from changes in demographic 
assumptions such as adjusted life expectancies. With most of 
the German plans, expected long-term wage and salary 
increases do not have an impact on the amount of the obligation.

D.52
Composition of provisions for pensions 
and similar obligations

At December 31,
2020 2019

In millions of euros

Provision for pension benefits 11,047 8,518
Provision for other post-employment 
benefits 1,023 1,210

12,070 9,728
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The fair value of plan assets is predominantly determined by 
the situation on the capital markets. Unfavorable develop-
ments, especially of equity prices and fixed-interest securities, 
could reduce that fair value. The diversification of investment 
funds, the engagement of asset managers using quantitative 
and qualitative analyses, and the continual monitoring of per-
formance and risk help to reduce the associated investment 
risk. The Group regularly makes additional contributions to the 
plan assets in order to cover future obligations from defined 
benefit pension plans.

As a general principle, it is the Group’s objective to design new 
pension plans as defined benefit plans based on capital com-
ponents or on annual contributions, or as defined contribution 
plans.

Reconciliation of the net obligation from defined benefit 
pension plans 
The development of the relevant factors is shown in table  
 D.53.

D.53
Present value of defined benefit pension obligations and fair value of plan assets

At December 31, 2020 At December 31, 2019

Total
German 

Plans
Non-German 

Plans Total
German 

Plans
Non-German 

Plans
In millions of euros

Present value of the defined benefit obligation 
at January 1 36,195 31,770 4,425 31,645 27,852 3,793
Current service cost 795 686 109 714 609 105
Interest cost 444 309 135 636 479 157
Contributions by plan participants 30 25 5 52 46 6
	 Actuarial gains (-)/losses from changes in 
	 demographic assumptions -50 10 -60 11 1 10
	 Actuarial gains (-)/losses from changes in 
	 financial assumptions 3,830 3,494 336 4,214 3,682 532
	 Actuarial gains (-)/losses from 
	 experience adjustments 4 -1 5 -32 -52 20
Actuarial gains (-)/losses 3,784 3,503 281 4,193 3,631 562
Past service cost, curtailments 
and settlements -104 - -104 -118 - -118
Pension benefits paid -1,023 -821 -202 -972 -782 -190
Currency exchange-rate changes and 
other changes -275 12 -287 45 -65 110
Present value of the defined benefit obligation 
at December 31 39,846 35,484 4,362 36,195 31,770 4,425

Fair value of plan assets 
at January 1 27,760 24,454 3,306 25,462 22,532 2,930
	I nterest income from plan assets 328 233 95 502 387 115
	 Actuarial gains/ 
	 losses (-) 1,148 800 348 1,936 1,584 352
Actual result on plan assets 1,476 1,033 443 2,438 1,971 467
Contributions by the employer 788 663 125 663 582 81
Contributions by plan participants 30 25 5 51 46 5
Settlements - - - -105 - -105
Pension benefits paid -964 -786 -178 -911 -745 -166
Currency exchange-rate changes and 
other changes -220 11 -231 162 68 94
Fair value of plan assets 
at December 31 28,870 25,400 3,470 27,760 24,454 3,306

Funded status -10,976 -10,084 -892 -8,435 -7,316 -1,119
	 actuarial loss due to asset ceiling -3 - -3 - - -
Net defined benefit liability -10,979 -10,084 -895 -8,435 -7,316 -1,119
	 thereof recognized in other assets 68 - 68 83 - 83
	 thereof recognized in provisions for pensions 
	 and similar obligations -11,047 -10,084 -963 -8,518 -7,316 -1,202
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Composition of plan assets 
Plan assets are used solely to provide pension benefits and to 
cover the administration costs of the plan assets. The compo-
sition of the Group’s pension plan assets is shown in table  
 D.54.

Market prices are usually available for equities and bonds due 
to their listing in active markets. Most of the bonds have 
investment grade ratings. They include government bonds of 
very good creditworthiness.

The investment strategy is reviewed regularly and adjusted if 
deemed necessary. The investment strategy is determined by 
Investment Committees, which are generally composed of rep-
resentatives of the Finance and Human Resources depart-
ments. The pension plan assets are generally oriented towards 
the structure of the pension obligations.

Pension cost 
The components of pension cost included in the Consolidated  
Statement of Income are shown in table  D.55. The gain 
shown in 2020 in the line past service cost results mainly from 
the freeze of the defined benefit pension plan in the United 
States (€105 million). It has been replaced with a defined con-
tribution pension plan. The gain is presented under functional 
costs in the Mercedes-Benz Cars & Vans segment.

D.54
Composition of plan assets

At December 31, 2020 At December 31, 2019

Total
German 

Plans
Non-German 

Plans Total
German 

Plans
Non-German 

Plans
In millions of euros

Equities¹ 8,170 7,092 1,078 7,399 6,379 1,020
	G overnment bonds 4,738 3,991 747 5,797 4,895 902
	 Corporate bonds 11,940 10,759 1,181 11,305 10,355 950
	S ecuritized bonds 70 61 9 59 43 16
Bonds 16,748 14,811 1,937 17,161 15,293 1,868
Other exchange-traded instruments 10 3 7 1 - 1
Exchange-traded instruments 24,928 21,906 3,022 24,561 21,672 2,889
Alternative investments² 376 216 160 424 254 170
Real estate 482 381 101 488 380 108
Other non-exchange-traded instruments 837 764 73 566 510 56
Cash and cash equivalents 2,247 2,133 114 1,721 1,638 83
Non-exchange-traded instruments 3,942 3,494 448 3,199 2,782 417
Fair value of plan assets 28,870 25,400 3,470 27,760 24,454 3,306
1	I ncluding the shares in Renault and Nissan in the amount of €983 (in 2019: €1,188) million.
2	 Alternative investments mainly comprise private equity.

D.55
Pension cost

2020 2019

Total
German 

Plans
Non-German 

Plans Total
German 

Plans
Non-German 

Plans
In millions of euros

Current service cost -795 -686 -109 -714 -609 -105
Past service cost, 
curtailments and settlements 104 - 104 13 - 13
Net interest expense -118 -76 -42 -138 -92 -46
Net interest income 2 - 2 4 - 4

-807 -762 -45 -835 -701 -134
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30. Legal proceedings

Daimler AG and its subsidiaries are confronted with various 
legal proceedings, claims as well as governmental investiga-
tions and orders (legal proceedings) on a large number of top-
ics, including vehicle safety, emissions, fuel economy, financial 
services, dealer, supplier and other contractual relationships, 
intellectual property rights (including but not limited to patent 
infringement actions), warranty claims, environmental matters, 
antitrust matters (including actions for damages) as well as 
investor litigation. Product-related litigation involves claims 
alleging faults in vehicles. Some of these claims are asserted 
by way of class actions. If the outcome of such legal proceed-
ings is detrimental to Daimler or such legal proceedings are 
settled, the Group may be required to pay substantial compen-
satory and punitive damages or to undertake service actions, 
recall campaigns, monetary penalties or other costly actions. 
Legal proceedings and related settlements may have an impact 
on the Group’s reputation.

Diesel emission behavior: governmental proceedings
As already reported, several authorities and institutions world-
wide were, and still are, active in the form of inquiries, investi-
gations, procedures and/or orders. These activities particularly 
relate to test results, the emission control systems used in 
Mercedes-Benz diesel vehicles and/or Daimler’s interaction 
with the relevant authorities as well as related legal issues and 
implications, including, but not limited to, under applicable 
environmental, criminal and antitrust laws.

In the United States, Daimler AG and Mercedes-Benz USA, LLC 
(MBUSA) reached agreements in the third quarter of 2020 with 
various authorities to settle civil and environmental claims 
regarding emission control systems of certain diesel vehicles. 
The involved US authorities are the environmental agencies 
Environmental Protection Agency (»EPA«) and California Air 
Resources Board (»CARB«), the Environmental and Natural 
Resources Division of the U.S. Department of Justice (»DOJ«), 
the California Attorney General’s Office as well as the U.S. 
Customs and Border Protection (»CBP«).

The authorities take the position that Daimler failed to disclose 
Auxiliary Emission Control Devices (AECDs) in certain of its US 
diesel vehicles and that several of these AECDs are illegal 
defeat devices. As part of these settlements, Daimler denies 
the allegations by the authorities and does not admit liability, 
but has agreed to, among other things, pay civil penalties, con-
duct an emission modification program for affected vehicles, 
provide extended warranties, undertake a nationwide mitiga-
tion project, take certain corporate compliance measures and 
make other payments. The company has cooperated fully with 
the US authorities. The settlements are subject to final court 
approval. Upon approval, they will be final and effective. 
Daimler expects costs of the settlements with the US authori-
ties of approximately USD 1.5 billion. The estimated cost for 
the US consumer class action mentioned below amounts to 
around USD 700 million. In addition, Daimler estimates further 
expenses of a mid three-digit-million Euro amount to fulfill 
requirements of these settlements.

As already reported, in April 2016, the DOJ requested that 
Daimler conduct an internal investigation. While Daimler has 
conducted such internal investigation as part of DOJ‘s investi-
gation, DOJ‘s investigation is ongoing. In Canada, the Canadian 
environmental regulator Environment and Climate Change Can-
ada (»ECCC«) is conducting an investigation in connection with 
Diesel exhaust emissions. Daimler continues to cooperate with 
the investigating authorities.

In Germany, the Stuttgart district attorney’s office is conduct-
ing criminal investigation proceedings against Daimler employ-
ees on the suspicion of fraud and criminal advertising. In Feb-
ruary 2019, the Stuttgart district attorney’s office also initiated 
a formal investigation proceeding against Daimler AG with 
respect to an administrative offense. In September 2019, it 
issued a fine notice against Daimler based on a negligent viola-
tion of supervisory duties in the amount of €870 million which 
has become legally binding, thereby concluding the administra-
tive offense proceedings against Daimler.

Since 2018, the German Federal Motor Transport Authority 
(“KBA”) has repeatedly issued subsequent auxiliary provisions 
for the EC type approvals of certain Mercedes-Benz diesel 
vehicles, and has ordered mandatory recalls as well as, in 
some cases, stops of the first registration. In each of those 
cases, it held that certain calibrations of specified functional-
ities in certain Mercedes-Benz diesel vehicles are to be quali-
fied as impermissible defeat devices. Daimler has a contrary 
legal opinion on this question. Since 2018, however, it has (in 
view of KBA’s interpretation of the law as a precautionary mea-
sure) implemented a temporary delivery and registration stop 
with respect to certain models, also covering the used car, 
leasing and financing businesses, and is constantly reviewing 
whether it can lift this delivery and registration stop in whole 
or in part. Daimler has filed timely objections against the KBA’s 
administrative orders mentioned above. In early 2021, the KBA 
issued objection orders (»Widerspruchsbescheide«) in certain 
of the proceedings not following the arguments brought for-
ward by Daimler. Since Daimler still does have a different 
understanding of the relevant legal provisions, it currently ana-
lyzes whether the controversial questions at issue should be 
clarified in a court of law. Irrespective of such objections and 
possibly following lawsuits, Daimler continues to cooperate 
fully with the KBA. The new calibrations requested by KBA are 
being processed, and for a substantial proportion of the vehi-
cles, the relevant software has already been approved by KBA; 
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Following the settlement decision by the European Commis-
sion adopted on July 19, 2016, concluding the trucks antitrust 
proceedings, Daimler AG and Daimler Truck AG are facing cus-
tomers’ claims for damages to a considerable degree. Respec-
tive legal actions, class actions and other forms of legal 
redress have been initiated in various states in and outside of 
Europe and should further be expected. Daimler is taking 
appropriate legal remedies to defend itself. In accordance with 
IAS 37.92, no further information is disclosed with respect to 
whether, or to what extent, provisions have been recognized 
and/or contingent liabilities have been disclosed, so as not to 
prejudice Daimler’s position.

Class-action lawsuits Takata airbag inflators
As already reported, class actions in connection with Takata 
airbags are pending in Canada, the United States and Israel, 
and a new collective action lawsuit was recently filed in Argen-
tina. The lawsuits are based on the allegation that, along with 
Takata entities and many other companies that sold vehicles 
equipped with Takata airbag inflators, Daimler entities were 
allegedly negligent in selling such vehicles, purportedly not 
recalling them quickly enough, and failing to provide an ade-
quate replacement airbag inflator. In detail: In August 2016, 
Mercedes-Benz Canada (MB Canada) was added as a defen-
dant to a putative nationwide class action that remains pend-
ing in Ontario Superior Court. In addition, Daimler AG and 
MBUSA were named as defendants along with Takata compa-
nies in June 2017, in a US nationwide class action, which was 
filed in New Jersey Federal Court. In the third quarter of 2017, 
such lawsuit was transferred to federal court in the Southern 
District of Florida for consolidation with other multidistrict liti-
gation proceedings. Further class action lawsuits in the USA 
were integrated into the multiple district proceedings. One of 
the multidistrict litigation complaints also asserts claims by 
automotive recyclers who allege injury because they are not 
able to re-sell salvaged airbag inflators that are subject to the 
Takata recall. In February 2019, Daimler AG and its non-subsid-
iary Israeli distributor (Colmobil) were named as defendants in 
an Israel-wide class action alleging inadequacy of Takata recall 
efforts in Israel and that action remains pending. In September 
2020, Mercedes-Benz Argentina S.A. was named as a defen-
dant in an Argentine class action alleging inadequacy of Takata 
recall efforts in Argentina as well as a failure to warn consum-
ers about a potential defect. Daimler AG continues to regard all 
these lawsuits brought with regard to Mercedes-Benz vehicles 
as being without merit, and the Daimler Group affiliates 
respectively affected will further defend themselves against 
the claims. Contingent liabilities were disclosed to a low extent 
for this topic.

Accounting estimates and management judgments relat-
ing to all legal proceedings  
The Group recognizes provisions in connection with pending or 
threatened proceedings to the extent a loss is probable and 
can be reasonably estimated. Such provisions are recognized 
in the Group’s consolidated financial statements and are based 
on estimates. If quantifiable, contingent liabilities in connec-
tion with legal proceedings are disclosed in the Group’s consol-
idated financial statements. Risks resulting from legal proceed-
ings sometimes cannot be assessed reliably or only to a limited 
extent. Consequently, provisions recognized for some legal 
proceedings may turn out to be insufficient once such pro-
ceedings have ended. The Group may also become liable for 
payments in legal proceedings for which no provisions were 
recognized and/or contingent liabilities were disclosed. Uncer-
tainty exists with regard to the amounts or due dates of possi-
ble cash outflows. Although the final result of any such pro-
ceedings could materially affect Daimler’s operating results 
and cash flows for a particular reporting period, Daimler 
believes that it should not exert a sustained influence on the 
Group’s financial position.

31. Contingent liabilities and other financial  
obligations

Contingent liabilities
At December 31, 2020, the best estimate for obligations from 
contingent liabilities was €2,832 million (2019: €1,600 mil-
lion). The increase in contingent liabilities is related to the legal 
proceedings described in E Note 30.

Other financial obligations
At December 31, 2020, other financial obligations exist from 
the acquisition of intangible assets, property, plant and 
equipment and lease property of €3,698 million (2019: 
€4,613 million).

In addition, the Group had issued irrevocable loan commit-
ments at December 31, 2020. These loan commitments had 
not been utilized as of that date. Further information with 
respect to these commitments is provided in E Note 33.
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33. Management of financial risks

General information on financial risks 

As a result of its businesses and the global nature of its opera-
tions, Daimler is exposed in particular to market risks from 
changes in foreign currency exchange rates and interest rates, 
while commodity price risks arise from procurement. An equity 
price risk results from investments in listed companies. In 
addition, the Group is exposed to credit risks from its leasing 
and financing activities and from its business operations (trade 
receivables). Furthermore, the Group is exposed to liquidity 
and country risks relating to its credit and market risks or a 
deterioration of its business operations or financial market dis-
turbances. If these financial risks materialize, they could 
adversely affect Daimler’s profitability, liquidity and capital 
resources and financial position.

Daimler has established internal guidelines for risk controlling 
procedures and for the use of financial instruments, including 
a clear segregation of duties with regard to financial activities, 
settlement, accounting and the related controlling. The guide-
lines upon which the Group’s risk management processes for 
financial risks are based are designed to identify and analyze 
these risks throughout the Group, to set appropriate risk limits 
and controls and to monitor the risks by means of reliable and 
up-to-date administrative and information systems. The guide-
lines and systems are regularly reviewed and adjusted to 
changes in markets and products.

The Group manages and monitors these risks primarily through 
its operating and financing activities and, if required, through 
the use of derivative financial instruments. Daimler uses deriv-
ative financial instruments exclusively for hedging financial 
risks that arise from its business operations or refinancing 
activities or liquidity management. Without these derivative 
financial instruments, the Group would be exposed to higher 
financial risks. Additional information on financial instruments 
and especially on the volumes of the derivative financial instru-
ments used is included in E Note 32. Daimler regularly eval-
uates its financial risks with due consideration of changes in 
key economic indicators and up-to-date market information.

The market sensitive instruments, including equity and debt 
securities, that the plan assets hold to finance pension and 
other post-employment healthcare benefits, are not included 
in the following quantitative and qualitative analysis. See 
E Note 22 for additional information on Daimler’s pension 
and other post-employment benefits.

Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk of economic loss arising from a counter-
party’s failure to repay or service debt in accordance with the 
contractual terms. Credit risk encompasses both the direct 
risk of default and the risk of a deterioration of creditworthi-
ness as well as concentration risks.

The maximum risk positions of financial assets which are gen-
erally subject to credit risk are equal to their carrying amounts 
at the balance sheet date (without consideration of collateral, 
if available). There is also a risk of default from irrevocable loan 
commitments which had not been utilized as of that date, as 
well as from financial guarantees. The maximum risk position 
in these cases is equal to the expected future cash outflows. 
Table  D.84 shows the maximum risk positions at the bal-
ance sheet date.

Liquid assets 
Liquid assets consist of cash and cash equivalents and market-
able debt securities and similar investments. With the invest-
ment of liquid assets, banks and issuers of securities are 
selected very carefully and diversified in accordance with a 
limit system. Liquid assets are mainly held at financial institu-
tions within and outside Europe with high creditworthiness,  
as bonds issued by German federal states and as money mar-
ket funds. In connection with investment decisions, priority is 
placed on the borrower’s very high creditworthiness and on 
balanced risk diversification. The limits and their utilizations 
are reassessed continuously. In this assessment, Daimler also 
considers the credit risk assessment of its counterparties by 
the capital markets. In line with the Group’s risk policy, most 
liquid assets are held in investments with an external rating of 
“A” or better. Liquid assets are thus not subject to a material 
credit risk and are allocated to stage 1 of the impairment 
model, which is based on expected credit risk.

D.84
Maximum risk positions of financial assets, 
irrevocable loan commitments and financial guarantees

Note

Maximum 
risk 

position 
2020

Maximum 
risk 

position 
2019

In millions of euros

Liquid assets 29,445 27,538
Receivables from 
financial services 14 96,185 103,661
Trade 
receivables 19 10,649 12,332
Derivative financial 
instruments used in 
hedge accounting 
(assets only) 16 2,145 1,191
Derivative financial 
instruments not used in 
hedge accounting 
(assets only) 16 74 27
Other receivables and 
financial assets 16 2,942 3,328
Irrevocable loan commitments 2,109 2,038
Financial guarantees 563 728

































https://www.daimler.com/documents/company/corporate-governance/declarations/daimler-declarationen-12-2020.pdf
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Measurement of the Provision for Product War-
ranties

Please refer with regard to the accounting policies and meth-
ods applied to the notes to the consolidated financial state-
ments in E Note 1 »Significant accounting policies« and in 
E Note 2 »Accounting estimates and management judg-
ments«. Further information on the guarantees and product 
warranties can be found in the notes to the consolidated finan-
cial statements in E Note 23 »Provisions for other risks« and 
in the comments in the combined management report in the 
section entitled »Company-specific risks and opportunities - 
Warranty and goodwill cases«.

The Risk for the Consolidated Financial Statements
The provision for product warranties amounts to € 8,476 mil-
lion and is included in the provisions for other risks.

Daimler faces various claims under product guarantees, or 
grants various kinds of product warranties, which are entered 
into for the error-free functioning of a Daimler product sold or 
service rendered over a defined period of time. In order to con-
firm or reassess future guarantee, warranty and goodwill 
expenses, continuously updated information on the nature and 
volume and the remedying of faults that have occurred is 
recorded and analyzed at the level of the business unit, model 
series, damage key and sales year.

Significant uncertainty for the calculation of the provision 
arises with regard to the future loss event. The risk for the con-
solidated financial statements is that the provision is not prop-
erly measured.

Our Audit Approach
Our audit procedures included among other things the evalua-
tion of the process to calculate the provision for product war-
ranties and the evaluation of the relevant assumptions and 
their derivation for the measurement of the provision. These 
include primarily assumptions on expected susceptibility to 
and the course of damage, and in addition the monetary value 
of the damage per vehicle based on actual warranty, guarantee 
and goodwill losses. Based on historical analyses, we assessed 
the accuracy of the forecasts of past warranty, guarantee and 
goodwill costs. We also checked that updated assessments of 
the future repair costs and procedures were taken into 
account. We obtained an understanding for the underlying 
numbers of vehicles through the actual unit sales.

Our Observations
The calculation methods and the assumptions made are appro-
priate.

Accounting Treatment of Legal Proceedings

Please refer with regard to the accounting policies and meth-
ods applied to the notes to the consolidated financial state-
ments E Note 1 »Significant accounting policies « and in 
E Note 2 »Accounting estimates and management judg-
ments«. Further information on the legal proceedings can be 
found in the notes to the consolidated financial statements in 
E Note 23 »Provisions for other risks«, E Note 30 »Legal 
proceedings« and in the combined management report in the 
section entitled »Legal and tax risks and opportunities – legal 
risks«.

The Risk for the Consolidated Financial Statements
Daimler faces various legal proceedings, claims and govern-
mental investigations and administrative orders (legal proceed-
ings) on a wide range of topics, including for example vehicle 
safety, emissions, fuel economy, financial services, dealer, 
supplier and other contractual relationships, intellectual prop-
erty rights, product warranties, environmental matters, anti-
trust matters (including actions for damages) and shareholder 
matters. Legal proceedings relating to products deal with 
claims on account of alleged vehicle defects, some of which 
are asserted by way of a class action lawsuit. If the outcome of 
such legal proceedings is detrimental to Daimler, the Company 
may be required to pay substantial compensatory and punitive 
damages or to undertake service actions, recall campaigns, 
monetary penalties or other costly actions.

Whether the recognition of a provision and, if so, in what 
amount it is necessary on account of legal proceedings is 
dependent to a high degree on discretionary estimates and 
assumptions by the legal representatives. In view of this and 
the monetary amounts involved with regard to the risks, the 
following legal proceedings of Daimler are in our opinion of 
particular importance.

a) Diesel emission behavior: class action and other lawsuits in 
the USA, Canada, the Netherlands and Germany in the Cars/
Vans segment

The allegation is raised in class actions in various jurisdictions, 
including the USA, Canada or the Netherlands, against individ-
ual subsidiaries in the Daimler Group that devices are used in 
Mercedes-Benz diesel vehicles that impermissibly impair the 
effectiveness of emission control systems in reducing nitro-
gen-oxide (NOx) emissions and cause excessive emissions. In 
addition, the plaintiffs contend that consumers were deliber-
ately misled in connection with the advertising for Mercedes-
Benz diesel vehicles.

In Germany, a large number of customers of diesel vehicles 
have filed claims for damages or the reversal of purchase 
agreements. They contend that the vehicles are equipped with 
impermissible defeat devices and/or report impermissibly high 
emission or consumptions figures.

Furthermore, investors in Germany have filed claims on 
account of the alleged violation of disclosure requirements. 
The investors contend among other things that Daimler failed 
to publish insider knowledge in connection with the emissions 
behavior of its Mercedes-Benz diesel vehicles immediately, 
with the consequence that the share purchase price would 
have been lower if Daimler had reported in accordance with its 
obligations.
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b) Diesel emission behavior: administrative proceedings in the 
Cars/Vans segment

Various federal and state authorities and further institutions 
worldwide are proceeding actively against Daimler in the form 
of inquiries, investigations, proceedings and/or directives. 
These activities relate in particular to test results and emission 
control systems in Mercedes-Benz-diesel vehicles and/or 
Daimler’s interaction with the relevant authorities and related 
legal questions and implications, for instance also under appli-
cable environmental, criminal and antitrust law.

c) Actions for damages in connection with antitrust proceed-
ings in the Trucks division

Following the imposition of a fine by the European Commission 
against Daimler AG and other truck manufacturers in July 2016, 
truck customers have raised damage claims against Daimler 
AG.

Daimler recognized provisions for legal proceedings as of 
December 31, 2020. The recognition of provisions for legal pro-
ceedings is conditional on the existence of a present external 
obligation, which will probably lead to an outflow of resources 
embodying economic benefits and can be reliably estimated. 
The provision is thereby determined in accordance with the 
best possible estimate of the settlement amount. The recogni-
tion and measurement of the recognized provisions for legal 
proceedings are based on discretionary assessments and 
assumptions of the legal representatives.

The risk for the consolidated financial statements is that provi-
sions for legal proceedings are not set up or are inadequate.

Our Audit Approach
Our audit procedures comprised firstly an evaluation of the 
process established by the Company to ensure the recording 
of the risks, the estimation of the outcome of the proceedings 
and the reflection in the financial statements of the legal pro-
ceedings. Secondly, we held discussions with the internal legal 
department and with further departments familiar with the 
matters under dispute and the Company’s external advisors 
and attorneys, in order to obtain explanations on the develop-
ments and the reasons that had led to the respective estima-
tions. In addition, we evaluated the underlying documents and 
minutes and the calculations for the respective provisions. The 
assessments of the legal representatives regarding the devel-
opments in the areas referred to were made available to us by 
the Company in writing. As of the reporting date, assessments 
were available from external attorneys on the relevant pro-
ceedings, which support the assessment of the risks by the 
legal representatives.

Where agreement has been reached in the meantime regarding 
individual matters, we compared the amounts originally esti-
mated with the final obligations and in this way obtained an 
impression of the quality of the estimates.

Finally, we evaluated the appropriateness of the description of 
the aforementioned legal proceedings in the notes to the con-
solidated financial statements.

Our Observations
The discretionary assessments and assumptions of the legal 
representatives are appropriate.

Other information
The legal representatives and the Supervisory Board are 
responsible for the other information. The other information 
comprises the following elements of the combined manage-
ment report, the content of which we have not audited:

–	� the combined declaration on corporate management, which 
is referred to in the combined management report.

The other information comprises in addition the remaining 
parts of the annual report.

The other information does not comprise the consolidated 
financial statements, the audited disclosures in the manage-
ment report and our related auditor’s report.

Our opinions on the consolidated financial statements and on 
the combined management report do not cover the other infor-
mation, and consequently we do not express an opinion or any 
other form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit, our responsibility is to read the 
other information and, in so doing, to consider whether the 
other information

–	� is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial 
statements, the audited disclosures in the management 
report or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or

–	� otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that 
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we 
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in 
this regard.
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Responsibilities of the Legal Representatives and the 
Supervisory Board for the Consolidated Financial State-
ments and the Combined Management Report
The legal representatives are responsible for the preparation of 
the consolidated financial statements that comply, in all mate-
rial respects, with IFRSs as adopted by the EU and the addi-
tional requirements of German commercial law pursuant to 
Section 315e paragraph 1 HGB and that the consolidated finan-
cial statements, in compliance with these requirements, give a 
true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position 
and financial performance of the Group. In addition, the legal 
representatives are responsible for such internal control as 
they have determined necessary to enable the preparation of 
consolidated financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the legal 
representatives are responsible for assessing the Group’s abil-
ity to continue as a going concern. They are also responsible 
for disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern. 
In addition, they are responsible for financial reporting based 
on the going concern basis of accounting unless there is an 
intention to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or 
there is no realistic alternative but to do so.

Furthermore, the legal representatives are responsible for the 
preparation of the combined management report that, as a 
whole, provides an appropriate view of the Group̀ s position 
and is, in all material respects, consistent with the consoli-
dated financial statements, complies with German legal 
requirements, and appropriately presents the opportunities 
and risks of future development. In addition, the legal repre-
sentatives are responsible for such arrangements and mea-
sures (systems) as they have considered necessary to enable 
the preparation of a combined management report that is in 
accordance with the applicable German legal requirements, 
and to be able to provide sufficient appropriate evidence for 
the assertions in the combined management report.

The Supervisory Board is responsible for overseeing the 
Group̀ s financial reporting process for the preparation of the 
consolidated financial statements and the combined manage-
ment report.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated 
Financial Statements and of the Combined Management 
Report
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error, and whether the combined management report as a 
whole provides an appropriate view of the Grouṕ s position 
and, in all material respects, is consistent with the consoli-
dated financial statements and the knowledge obtained in the 
audit, complies with the German legal requirements and appro-
priately presents the opportunities and risks of future develop-
ment, as well as to issue an auditor’s report that includes our 
opinions on the consolidated financial statements and on the 
combined management report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a 
guarantee, that an audit conducted in accordance with Section 
317 HGB and the EU Audit Regulation and in compliance with 
German Generally Accepted Standards for Financial Statement 
Audits promulgated by the Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer (IDW) 
and supplementary compliance with the ISAs will always 
detect a material misstatement. Misstatements can arise from 
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in 
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence 
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these 
consolidated financial statements and this combined manage-
ment report.

We exercise professional judgment and maintain professional 
skepticism throughout the audit. We also

–	� identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the 
consolidated financial statements and of the combined man-
agement report, whether due to fraud or error, design and 
perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and 
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinions. The risk of not detecting a 
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for 
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forg-
ery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the over-
ride of internal control.

–	� obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the 
audit of the consolidated financial statements and of 
arrangements and measures (systems) relevant to the audit 
of the combined management report in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but 
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effec-
tiveness of these systems.

–	� evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used by 
management and the reasonableness of estimates made by 
management and related disclosures.
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–	� conclude on the appropriateness of the use by the legal rep-
resentatives of the going concern basis of accounting and, 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material 
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may 
cast significant doubt on the Group̀ s ability to continue as a 
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty 
exists, we are required to draw attention in the auditor’s 
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated finan-
cial statements and in the combined management report or, 
if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our respective 
opinions. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence 
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, 
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to 
be able to continue as a going concern.

–	� evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of 
the consolidated financial statements, including the disclo-
sures, and whether the consolidated financial statements 
present the underlying transactions and events in a manner 
that the consolidated financial statements give a true and 
fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and finan-
cial performance of the Group in compliance with IFRSs as 
adopted by the EU and the additional requirements of Ger-
man commercial law pursuant to Section 315e paragraph 1 
HGB.

–	� obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the 
financial information of the entities or business activities 
within the Group to express opinions on the consolidated 
financial statements and on the combined management 
report. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and 
performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsi-
ble for our opinions.

–	� evaluate the consistency of the combined management 
report with the consolidated financial statements, its confor-
mity with (German) law, and the view of the Group’s position 
it provides.

–	� perform audit procedures on the prospective information 
presented by the legal representatives in the combined man-
agement report. On the basis of sufficient appropriate audit 
evidence, we evaluate, in particular, the significant assump-
tions used by the legal representatives as a basis for the pro-
spective information and evaluate the proper derivation of 
the prospective information from these assumptions. We do 
not express a separate opinion on the prospective informa-
tion and on the assumptions used as a basis. There is a sub-
stantial unavoidable risk that future events will differ materi-
ally from the prospective information.

We communicate with those charged with governance regard-
ing, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the 
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant 
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our 
audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a state-
ment that we have complied with the relevant independence 
requirements and communicate with them all relationships and 
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our 
independence, and where applicable, the related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with gov-
ernance, we determine those matters that were of most signifi-
cance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of 
the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We 
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless laws or 
other legal regulations preclude public disclosure of the mat-
ter.
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Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

Report on the Assurance in accordance with Section 317 (3b) 
HGB on the Electronic Reproduction of the Consolidated 
Financial Statements and the Combined Management 
Report Prepared for Publication Purposes
We have performed assurance work in accordance with 
Section 317 (3b) HGB to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the reproduction of the consolidated financial state-
ments and the combined management report (hereinafter  
the »ESEF documents«) contained in the file that can be down-
loaded by the issuer from the electronic client portal  
with access protection „daimlerag.zip“ (SHA256-Hashwert: 
f5054db4d7965f8018df22676d38cc4454eeaa305ad27e 
5691b8e87d5e10817a) and prepared for publication purposes 
complies in all material respects with the requirements of 
Section 328 (1) HGB for the electronic reporting format (»ESEF 
format«). In accordance with German legal requirements, this 
assurance only extends to the conversion of the information 
contained in the consolidated financial statements and the 
combined management report into the ESEF format and there-
fore relates neither to the information contained in this 
reproduction nor any other information contained in the above-
mentioned electronic file. 

In our opinion, the reproduction of the consolidated financial 
statements and the combined management report contained 
in the above-mentioned electronic file and prepared for publi-
cation purposes complies in all material respects with the 
requirements of Section 328 (1) HGB for the electronic report-
ing format. We do not express any opinion on the information 
contained in this reproduction nor on any other information 
contained in the above-mentioned file beyond this reasonable 
assurance opinion and our audit opinion on the accompanying 
consolidated financial statements and the accompanying com-
bined management report for the financial year from January 1 
to December 31, 2020 contained in the »Report on the Audit of 
the Consolidated Financial Statements and the Combined 
Management Report« above. 

We conducted our assurance work on the reproduction of the 
consolidated financial statements and the combined manage-
ment report contained in the above-mentioned electronic  
file in accordance with Section 317 (3b) HGB and the Exposure 
Draft of the IDW Assurance Standard: Assurance in accordance 
with Section 317 (3b) HGB  on the Electronic Reproduction of 
Financial Statements and Management Reports Prepared for 
Publication Purposes (ED IDW AsS 410) and the International 
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised). Accord-
ingly, our responsibilities are further described below. Our 
audit firm has applied the IDW Standard on Quality Manage-
ment 1: Requirements for Quality Management in Audit  
Firms (IDW QS 1).

The company’s management is responsible for the preparation 
of the ESEF documents including the electronic reproduction  
of the consolidated financial statements and the combined 
management report in accordance with Section 328 (1) sen-
tence 4 item 1 HGB and for the tagging of the consolidated 
financial statements in accordance with Section 328 (1) 
sentence 4 item 2 HGB.

In addition, the company’s management is responsible for the 
internal controls they consider necessary to enable the prepa-
ration of ESEF documents that are free from material inten-
tional or unintentional non-compliance with the requirements 
of Section 328 (1) HGB for the electronic reporting format. 

The company’s management is also responsible for the sub-
mission of the ESEF documents together with the auditor’s 
report and the attached audited consolidated financial state-
ments and audited combined management report as well  
as other documents to be published to the operator of the 
German Federal Gazette (Bundesanzeiger).

The supervisory board is responsible for overseeing the prepa-
ration of the ESEF documents as part of the financial reporting 
process.

Our objective is to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 
the ESEF documents are free from material intentional or unin-
tentional non-compliance with the requirements of Section 
328 (1) HGB. We exercise professional judgement and maintain 
professional scepticism throughout the assurance work. We 
also:

–	� identify and assess the risks of material intentional or 
unintentional non-compliance with the requirements of 
Section 328 (1) HGB, design and perform assurance 
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain assurance 
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a  
basis for our assurance opinion.

–	�O btain an understanding of internal control relevant to the 
assurance of the ESEF documents in order to design assur-
ance procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, 
but not for the purpose of expressing an assurance opinion 
on the effectiveness of these controls. 

–	�E valuate the technical validity of the ESEF documents, i.e. 
whether the electronic file containing the ESEF documents 
meets the requirements of Commission Delegated Regula-
tion (EU) 2019/815 on the technical specification for this 
electronic file.

–	�E valuate whether the ESEF documents enable an XHTML 
reproduction with content equivalent to the audited con
solidated financial statements and the audited combined 
management report.

–	�E valuate whether the tagging of the ESEF documents with 
Inline XBRL technology (iXBRL) enables an appropriate  
and complete machine-readable XBRL copy of the XHTML 
reproduction.
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Further Information pursuant to Article 10 of the EU Audit 
Regulation
We were elected as group auditor by the Annual Shareholders’ 
Meeting on July 8, 2020. We were engaged by the Supervisory 
Board on July 8, 2020. We have been the group auditor of 
Daimler AG without interruption since the financial year 1998. 

We declare that the opinions expressed in this auditor’s report 
are consistent with the additional report to the audit commit-
tee pursuant to Article 11 of the EU Audit Regulation (long-form 
audit report).

German Public Auditor Responsible for the Engagement
The German Public Auditor responsible for the engagement is 
Dr. Axel Thümler.

Stuttgart, February 17, 2021

KPMG AG 
Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft
(Original German version signed by:)

	
Sailer	 Dr. Thümler 
Wirtschaftsprüfer 	 Wirtschaftsprüfer
(German Public Auditor)	 (German Public Auditor)
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E.01

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 20174 2018 2019 2020
€ amounts in millions

From the statements of income
Revenue 106,540 114,297 117,982 129,872 149,467 153,261 164,154 167,362 172,745 154,309
Personnel expenses1 17,424 18,002 18,753 19,607 20,949 21,141 22,186 22,432 22,657 21,848
Research and development expenditure2 5,634 5,644 5,489 5,680 6,564 7,572 8,711 9,107 9,662 8,614
thereof capitalized 1,460 1,465 1,284 1,148 1,804 2,315 2,773 2,526 3,076 2,498
EBIT1 8,755 8,820 10,815 10,752 13,186 12,902 14,348 11,132 4,313 6,603
Operating margin (%)1 8.2 7.7 9.2 8.3 8.8 8.4 8.7 6.7 2.5 4.3
Profit (loss) before income taxes1 8,449 8,116 10,139 10,173 12,744 12,574 13,967 10,595 3,830 6,339
Net operating profit (loss)1 6,240 7,302 9,173 7,678 9,007 9,007 10,880 7,963 3,057 4,199
as % of net assets (RONA)1, 3 19.9 19.6 22.6 18.8 20.1 19.1 22.5 14.8 4.8 7.0
Net profit (loss)1 6,029 6,830 8,720 7,290 8,711 8,784 10,617 7,582 2,709 4,009
Net profit (loss) per share (€)1 5.32 6.02 6.40 6.51 7.87 7.97 9.61 6.78 2.22 3.39
Diluted net profit (loss) per share (€)1 5.31 6.02 6.40 6.51 7.87 7.97 9.61 6.78 2.22 3.39
Total dividend 2,346 2,349 2,407 2,621 3,477 3,477 3,905 3,477 963 1,444
Dividend per share (€) 2.20 2.20 2.25 2.45 3.25 3.25 3.65 3.25 0.90 1.35
 

From the statements of financial position
Property, plant and equipment 19,180 20,599 21,779 23,182 24,322 26,381 27,981 30,948 37,143 35,246
Leased equipment 22,811 26,058 28,160 33,050 38,942 46,942 47,074 49,476 51,482 47,552
Other non-current assets1 45,023 48,947 48,138 56,258 62,055 67,613 73,394 79,582 86,013 87,675
Inventories 17,081 17,720 17,349 20,864 23,760 25,384 25,686 29,489 29,757 26,444
Liquid assets 9,576 10,996 11,053 9,667 9,936 10,981 12,072 15,853 18,883 23,048
Other current assets 34,461 38,742 42,039 46,614 58,151 65,687 69,138 76,271 79,160 65,772
Total assets1 148,132 163,062 168,518 189,635 217,166 242,988 255,345 281,619 302,438 285,737
Shareholders’ equity1 41,337 39,330 43,363 44,584 54,624 59,133 65,159 66,053 62,841 62,248
thereof share capital 3,060 3,063 3,069 3,070 3,070 3,070 3,070 3,070 3,070 3,070
Equity ratio Group (%)1 26.3 22.7 24.3 22.1 23.6 22.9 24.0 22.2 20.5 21.8
Equity ratio industrial business (%)1 46.4 39.8 43.4 40.8 44.2 44.7 46.4 42.8 36.7 38.5
Non-current liabilities1 51,940 65,016 66,047 78,077 85,461 99,398 102,562 117,614 133,795 123,680
Current liabilities1 54,855 58,716 59,108 66,974 77,081 84,457 87,624 97,952 105,802 99,809
Net liquidity industrial business 11,981 11,508 13,834 16,953 18,580 19,737 16,597 16,288 10,997 17,855
Net assets (average)1, 3 31,426 37,521 40,648 40,779 44,796 47,054 48,446 53,809 63,782 59,869

Ten-Year Summary
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2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020
€ amounts in millions

From the statements of cash flows
Investments in property, plant and equipment 4,158 4,827 4,975 4,844 5,075 5,889 6,744 7,534 7,199 5,741
Depreciation and amortization 3,575 4,067 4,368 4,999 5,384 5,478 5,676 6,305 7,751 8,957
Cash provided by (used for) operating activities -696 -1,100 3,285 -1,274 222 3,711 -1,652 343 7,888 22,332
Cash provided by (used for) investing activities -6,537 -8,864 -6,829 -2,709 -9,722 -14,666 -9,518 -9,921 -10,607 -6,421
Cash provided by (used for) financing activities 5,842 11,506 3,855 2,274 9,631 12,009 13,129 13,226 5,628 -10,747
Free cash flow of the industrial business 989 1,452 4,842 5,479 3,960 3,874 2,005 2,898 1,368 8,259
 

From the stock exchanges
Share price at year-end (€) 33.92 41.32 62.90 68.97 77.58 70.72 70.80 45.91 49.37 57.79
Average shares outstanding  
(in millions)

 
1,066.0

 
1,066.8

 
1,068.8

 
1,069.8

 
1,069.8

 
1,069.8 1,069.8 1,069.8 1,069.8 1,069.8

Average diluted shares outstanding  
(in millions)

 
1,067.1

 
1,067.1

 
1,069.1

 
1,069.8

 
1,069.8

 
1,069.8 1,069.8 1,069.8 1,069.8 1,069.8

 

Ratings
Credit rating, long-term
S&P BBB+ A- A- A- A- A A A A- BBB+
Moody’s A3 A3 A3 A3 A3 A3 A2 A2 A3 A3
Fitch A- A- A- A- A- A- A- A- A- BBB+
DBRS A (low) A (low) A (low) A (low) A (low) A (low) A A A BBB (high)
Scope – – – – – – A A A A
 

Average annual number of employees
 

267,274
 

274,605
 

275,384
 

279,857
 

284,562
 

284,957
 

289,530 298,465 301,839 293,138
1	�T he figures for the year 2012 have been adjusted, primarily due to effects arising from application of the amended version of IAS 19.
2	�T he figure for the year 2013 has been adjusted due to reclassifications within functional costs.
3	�I n the context of fine tuning the performance measurement system, the definition of net assets has been adjusted with retroactive effect as of 

2015.
4	S everal figures for the year 2017 have been adjusted due to the effects of first-time adoption of IFRS 15 and IFRS 9.
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Information on the Internet
Specific information on our shares and earnings development 
can be found on our website w daimler.com in the Investors 
section. The Group’s annual and interim reports and the com-
pany financial statements of Daimler AG can be accessed 
there. You can also find topical reports, presentations, an 
overview of various key figures, information on our share 
price and other services. 

w daimler.com/investors

Daimler AG has ceased printing annual and interim reports and 
company financial statements for reasons of sustainability. It is 
also no longer possible to order copies of previous years’ 
reports. Effective immediately, all annual and interim reports 
are only available online and as PDF files to download.

w �daimler.com/ir/reports 
daimler.com/downloads/en

Daimler AG 
70546 Stuttgart
Germany
Phone +49 711 17 0
Fax	     +49 711 17 22244
www.daimler.com

Financial Calendar 2021

Annual Shareholders’ Meeting 2021
March 31, 2021

Interim Report Q1 2021
April 23, 2021

Interim Report Q2 2021
July 21, 2021

Interim Report Q3 2021
October 21, 2021

As changes to the above dates cannot be 
ruled out, it is advisable to check on our 
website a short time in advance.

w daimler.com/ir/calendar 

Investor Relations
Fax	 +49 711 17 94075
ir.dai@daimler.com

https://www.daimler.com/investors/
https://www.daimler.com/ir/reports/
https://www.daimler.com/downloads/en
https://www.daimler.com/ir/calendar/
https://www.daimler.com/de/


Daimler AG
Mercedesstraße 120
70372 Stuttgart 
Germany
www.daimler.com
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